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A Chinese version of this annual report is available from the company upon request 
如有需要，可向本公司索取本年報之中文版本
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BUSINESS MODEL
i-CABLE Communications Limited is an integrated broadcasting, 
communications, advertising and multimedia services provider in 
Hong Kong, commanding one of the largest and most influential 
TV viewer and communications service user bases in town. 

It owns and operates one of the near universal wireline 
telecommunications networks in Hong Kong, over which it provides 
Television, Broadband, Telephony and multimedia services to well 
over one million households. 

It is also one of the largest producers of television, film and 
multimedia content based in Hong Kong for distribution over 
conventional and new media, with a particular focus on news, 
information, sports and entertainment. 
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•	 Reduced	focus	on	market	share	enabled	financial	recovery	to	begin.

•	 A	small	net	profit	was	reported	for	the	second	half	of	2013.

•	 TV	customer	and	revenue	erosion	was	milder	 than	expected	and	more	than	compensated	by	
substantial	opex	reduction.

•	 Broadband	revenue	and	EBITDA	have	been	expanding	again	since	early	2013.

•	 Cash	flow	improved	on	improving	operating	margin	and	capex.

•	 Considerable	time	has	passed	since	the	Government’s	in-principle	approval	for	Fantastic	TV	to	provide	
free programme services. Fantastic is ready to broadcast within weeks of licence award, which 
remains subject to certain uncertainties affecting the licensing process.

December 2013

196,000

115,000

1,060,000

December 2012

201,000

126,000

1,089,000

Customers
 Television
 Broadband
 Telephony
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Dear Shareholders,

The Group celebrated CABLE TV’s 20th anniversary in October 2013. It gives me immense honour and 
pleasure to sincerely thank everyone who has contributed to the Group over those years.

Life has not always been easy for this franchise. Since our formative years, we have continuously been 
tested by a dominant TV operator with an unassailable early mover advantage and immense resources in 
local programming production. In order to make our mark, we made substantial investment in facilities and 
production capability from scratch. Despite three severe economic crises and a sharp increase in competing 
licensed and unlicensed services, we pressed ahead with our plans. The Group’s commitment and 
persistence eventually paid off and CABLE TV is consistently the most watched pay TV service with a daily 
reach of about one million viewers.

Whilst celebrating our 20th anniversary in October, we received the encouraging news that affiliate 
Fantastic Television had obtained in-principle approval to provide free TV services in Hong Kong. Fantastic 
is working with the authorities on formal licensing. If various legal and political battles challenging the 
Government’s	decision	do	not	stand	in	the	way	and	the	rest	of	the	licensing	process	can	be	expedited,	
Fantastic might obtain a licence within this year. In the meantime, uncertainties remain.

Fantastic targets to start with a Cantonese channel. Upon service launch, no less than 75% of Hong Kong 
households	can	tune	their	TV	set	to	watch	this	channel	in	exactly	the	same	way	they	watch	the	existing	
free TV channels, as communal TV systems in their buildings will already be connected to our network. 
Others would easily ask their building managers to make a simple interconnection for their communal TV 
systems. Either way, no additional reception equipment is required in viewers’ homes. Household coverage 
is	expected	to	increase	to	95%	within	the	first	year	of	service	launch.	Fantastic	is	putting	final	touches	
to	its	programming	plans	to	bring	viewers	a	rich	and	exciting	mix	spanning	news,	sports,	 information,	
entertainment and movies.

Free	TV	will	open	up	fresh	dimensions	and	opportunities	for	the	Group,	leveraging	our	vast	experience	and	
resources as a leading broadcaster and cross-media content provider. It will also open up new risks as we 
can	expect	serious	challenges	in	the	form	of	countermeasures	by	both	incumbent	and	new	TV	operators	
(pay and free) all vying for viewers, advertisers, content and talent. The TV sector will also be threatened by 
new media and its rich content, both legal and illegal. We will therefore need to invest suitably in talent and 
programming for both our free and pay TV services to help us meet the challenges ahead.
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Equally	challenging	is	the	telecommunications	front	where	the	market’s	total	fixed	residential	broadband	
lines peaked in 2012 against a growing mobile base. With speed and reliability of mobile data improving, 
some customers are accepting substitution. That will put additional pressure on service enhancement and 
customer retention all round. For the past few years, we have been investing in broadband infrastructure 
and	re-engineering	to	improve	customer	experience.	These	will	put	us	in	a	better	position	to	compete	more	
effectively.

You can rest assured that our team shall, as dedicated as ever, continue to serve our fellow Hong Kong 
citizens meeting their media and communications needs and in turn drive business performance.

Mr.	T.	K.	Ho,	Independent	Non-executive	Director	since	2009,	will	retire	by	rotation	at	the	forthcoming	
Annual General Meeting and not stand for re-election. On behalf of the Board, I wish to thank Mr. Ho for 
his	invaluable	contribution	of	insights	and	guidance	during	these	years.	His	many	years	of	experience	in	the	
industry and his counsel will be missed by the Company.

Lastly, my heartfelt gratitude to all colleagues on the Board and staff, as well as to our customers and 
business partners, for their continuous support, advice and encouragement without which the Group’s 
achievements would not have been possible.

Stephen T H Ng
Chairman	and	Chief	Executive	Officer
i-CABLE Communications Limited
Hong Kong, February 26, 2014



Business Review

05i-CABLE Communications Limited   Annual Report 2013

Operating Environment

Competition continued to be intense among telephony, broadband and Pay TV service operators. While 
attempts	were	made	by	operators	to	introduce	price	increases	to	fixed	line	telecommunications	services,	
the market enjoyed relative price stability for the best part of the year.

Television Services

At	rates	favourable	to	expectations,	contraction	of	our	TV	customer	base	continued	during	the	year	largely	
attributable	to	the	residual	impact	of	the	expiry	of	our	Barclays	Premier	League	rights.

Such	attritions	were	noticeably	milder	than	six	years	ago	when	the	same	rights	moved	to	the	same	
competitor the last time. Rampant illegal online viewing and lower TV viewership of the current football 
season attest to the merit of our decision not to renew the rights at an unsustainable fee.

On	top	of	producing	and	acquiring	quality	programming	to	suit	customer	expectations	and	adopting	
measures to enhance customer service, we have been investing in cross-platform and multi-view initiatives 
to	elevate	viewing	experience	to	a	new	level	of	convenience	and	mobility.

Internet & Multimedia

Our broadband business reported a moderate reduction in subscribers. The second half of the year saw 
the number of subscribers to our mid-range plans for the first time surpassing that of our more affordable 
plans.	Looking	ahead,	we	see	good	growth	potential	in	our	mid-range	plans	with	more	existing	customers	
upgrading and new ones migrating from competitors’ services.

During the year, various technologies, solutions and measures were introduced to enhance and optimize 
our network performance bringing customers better, faster and more reliable broadband services. We 
also pressed on with the rollout of our top-speed, fibre-to-the-home services to selected buildings, with 
favourable sales results and user reviews.

Programming

Revamped in June 2013, our flagship entertainment platform’s new programming offers and scheduling 
strategies received good publicity and are gaining establishment among subscribers. Channels 12/212 offer 
a more diverse range of entertainment programming both acquired and locally produced. Channels 13/213 
are all things drama, airing popular series mainly from the region.
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Our sports channels continued to feature prominent football leagues from Europe and Asia-Pacific. A wide 
variety of world-class competitions in other sports were also brought to fans including tennis, badminton, 
volleyball, basketball, cycling, table tennis as well as the 12th National Games held in Liaoning. We are 
Official Broadcaster of the 2014 Incheon Asian Games, Asia’s most anticipated and prestigious sports 
meet. Also acquired for 2014 and beyond were rights to a series of the Hong Kong International Track Cup 
competitions, the territory’s first ever Union Cycliste Internationale recognised tournament.

Our news team continued to win critical acclaim from viewers and opinion leaders for their professionalism 
and dedication. We consistently score high in media confidence polls. Introduced mid-year was a brand 
new daily weeknight cast featuring in-depth reports by our China team covering the most topical news 
and current affairs on the Mainland, getting us highly favourable reception and prompting followers among 
competitors. Under our on-going commitment to bring customers better programming and services, our 
news centre is being upgraded to further its position as a leading news content provider.

Sundream Motion Pictures

Sundream continued to bring cinema lovers the best, handpicked selection of quality titles spanning 
independent, avant-garde and studio productions from around the world. Films released during the year 
included The Master, widely regarded as a highly crafted but underrated masterpiece featuring the recently 
departed Philip Seymour Hoffman, and Silver Linings Playbook, a multi-award winning romantic comedy 
starring Hollywood heartthrob Bradley Cooper and today’s most sought after young actress Jennifer 
Lawrence.

On the production side, Sundream produced or co-produced various film projects during the year earmarked 
for commercial release in 2014.
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Colleagues devoted a good amount of their time to volunteering work serving elderly, children and youths 
as well as families in need of support. Leading charitable organisations that we worked with included the 
Community Chest, Red Cross and Ronald McDonald House. Activities and events included improvement 
projects for wildlife habitats, visits to elderly homes, as well as joint efforts with Youth Outreach such as 
flag sales and basketball matches with youngsters under its care.

The Group has been supporting Project WeCan, a Wharf Group initiative offering comprehensive support 
to secondary schools with fewer resources as well as limited social and networking support. We partnered 
with a school, the Buddhist Wong Wan Tin College in Shatin, and the school’s staff and students on a 
three-year mission to offer them whatever help we could muster in terms of learning, personality and moral 
development as well as career preparations.

The Group received the “Caring Company Scheme 5 Years Plus Logo” in 2013 from the Hong Kong Council 
of Social Service. It has been a supporter of Organ Donation since early 2010.

We are a doer when it comes to environmental protection. We have made encouraging progress since 
2008 when we stepped up our green efforts: paper consumption in 2013 was 54% lower than in 2008; 
electricity consumption in our principal office down 20%; fuel and water consumption down 22% and 12% 
respectively. For the fifth consecutive year, we took part in the “Earth Hour” campaign, promoting energy 
saving to our staff and on our online platform. 
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Stabilising the continuous erosion in TV revenue and growing broadband revenue more quickly to 
compensate for that will be the most critical challenge for 2014. On the other hand, general cost escalation 
will need to be addressed with more creativity in productivity efficiency. We will do our utmost to try to 
defend the small net profit reported for the second half of 2013 but the challenge is immense.

On	the	telecommunications	front,	the	number	of	fixed	 line	residential	broadband	customers	 in	Hong	
Kong peaked in 2012, against a growing mobile base. With speed and reliability of mobile data improving, 
some customers are accepting substitution. That will put additional pressure on service enhancement and 
customer retention all round.

The Government announced in October 2013 its in-principle approval for Group affiliate Fantastic Television 
Limited to provide free TV service. This would open up fresh horizons for the Group and create synergies 
with	our	existing	businesses.	However,	 it	will	also	come	with	business	risks.	Countermeasures	by	
incumbent free TV operators, together with the surge in competition for content on the one hand and 
viewership on the other, will bring about challenges to all TV players, pay or free.

Earnest preparations are being made to ensure that Fantastic would be in a position to launch its first 
channel within the shortest time possible. However, negotiations with the authorities on terms and 
conditions of Fantastic TV’s licence have yet to start and we are still unaware of the Government’s 
timetable.	Six	months	will	soon	have	passed	since	the	October	approval	and,	with	legal	actions	challenging	
it,	the	probability	of	licence	award	within	another	six	months	is	rapidly	diminishing.

Business Strategy
The Group endeavours to sharpen its services to attain higher customer satisfaction, which in turn drives 
business and revenue performance. Specifically, the Group pursues the following:

(a) acquire, produce and distribute quality content meeting local tastes and needs;

(b) invest in infrastructure, network and delivery platforms to enhance service level and customer 
convenience;

(c) unlock the value of our programming assets for cross-platform and international distribution; and

(d) continuously better our processes and procedures to always stay cost-effective.
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(A) Review of 2013 Results
Consolidated turnover decreased by 9% to HK$1,932 million.

Operating costs before depreciation decreased by 17% to HK$1,782 million. Programming costs decreased by 24%, cost of 
sales	by	6%,	selling,	customer	service,	general	and	administrative	expenses	by	5%	and	network	costs	by	1%.

EBITDA was HK$149 million (2012: EBITDA loss HK$22 million).

Net loss was HK$93 million (2012: HK$278 million). Basic and diluted loss per share was HK$0.05 (2012: HK$0.14).

(B) Segmental Information
Television
TV services customers decreased by 29,000 to 1,060,000. Turnover decreased by 12% to HK$1,546 million, mainly 
attributable to lower subscription revenue and lower advertising income. Operating costs before depreciation decreased by 
20% to HK$1,421 million, primarily due to lower programming cost, as well as lower selling, customer service, general and 
administrative	expenses	and	network	costs.	EBITDA	was	HK$125	million	(2012:	EBITDA	loss	HK$30	million).

Internet & Multimedia
Broadband services customers decreased by 5,000 to 196,000, and Telephony services customers decreased by 11,000 to 
115,000. Turnover increased by HK$10 million to HK$348 million. Operating costs before depreciation slightly increased by 
1% to HK$223 million. EBITDA increased by 6% to HK$125 million (2012: HK$118 million).

(C) Liquidity and Financial Resources
As of December 31, 2013, the Group had bank deposits and cash, net of bank borrowings, of HK$182 million (2012: HK$188 
million).

Consolidated net asset value as at December 31, 2013 was HK$1,192 million, or HK$0.59 per share.

The	Group’s	assets,	liabilities,	revenues	and	expenses	were	mainly	denominated	in	Hong	Kong	dollars	or	U.S.	dollars	and	
the	exchange	rate	between	these	two	currencies	has	remained	pegged.

Capital	expenditure	during	the	period	amounted	to	HK$149	million	(2012:	HK$209	million).	Major	items	included	HD	set-top-
boxes,	cable	modems	as	well	as	TV	production	and	broadcast	facilities	for	HD	channels.

The	Group’s	ongoing	capital	expenditure	and	new	business	development	will	be	funded	by	internal	cash	flows	generated	
from operations and loan facilities.

(D) Contingent Liabilities
At December 31, 2013, there were contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees, indemnities and letters of awareness 
given by the Company on behalf of subsidiaries relating to overdraft and guarantee facilities of loan up to HK$6 million (2012: 
HK$206 million), of which none (2012: HK$100 million) have been utilised by the subsidiaries.

(E) Human Resources
At year-end, the Group had 2,384 employees (2012: 2,605). During the year, gross salaries and related costs of HK$714 
million (2012: HK$719 million) were incurred.
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(A) Corporate Governance Practices
During the financial year ended December 31, 2013, all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG 
Code”)	as	set	out	 in	Appendix	14	of	the	Rules	Governing	the	Listing	of	Securities	(the	“Listing	Rules”)	on	The	Stock	
Exchange	of	Hong	Kong	Limited	were	met	by	the	Company,	with	one	exception	as	regards	Code	Provision	A.2.1	as	
explained	under	section	(D)	below.

(B) Directors’ Securities Transactions
The	Company	has	adopted	a	code	of	conduct	regarding	directors’	securities	transactions	on	terms	no	less	exacting	than	
the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”)	in	Appendix	10	of	the	Listing	Rules.	The	Company	has	made	specific	enquiry	of	all	Directors	of	the	Company	who	
were in office during the financial year ended December 31, 2013, all of them have confirmed that they have complied with 
the required standard set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct adopted by the Company regarding directors’ 
securities transactions during the financial year.

(C) Board of Directors
(I) Composition of the Board, number of Board/General meetings and Directors’ attendance

The	Company’s	Board	has	a	balance	of	skills	and	experience	and	a	balanced	composition	of	executive	and	non-
executive	directors.	Five	Board	meetings	and	one	general	meeting	were	held	during	the	financial	year	ended	
December 31, 2013. The composition of the Board and attendance of the Directors are set out below:

 Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)
Directors Board Meetings General Meeting

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Stephen T H Ng 5/5 1/1

Chief Financial Officer
William J H Kwan 5/5 1/1

Non-executive Director
Paul Y C Tsui 5/5 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
T K Ho 5/5 1/1
Herman S M Hu 3/5 1/1
Roger K H Luk 5/5 1/1
Sherman S M Tang (appointed with effect from January 1, 2014) N/A N/A
Patrick Y W Wu 5/5 1/1

Each	Director	of	the	Company	has	been	appointed	on	the	strength	of	his	calibre,	experience	and	stature,	and	his	
potential to contribute to the proper guidance of the Group and its businesses. Apart from formal meetings, matters 
requiring Board approval were arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions.

(II) Board Diversity
The Company’s Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy during the year. Under the Policy, the Company recognizes 
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board with a vision for the Company to achieving a sustainable and 
balanced development. Appointments of directors are made on merits while having due regard for the benefits of 
diversity of the Board.
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(C) Board of Directors (continued)

(II) Board Diversity (continued)
At	present,	over	60%	of	the	directors	on	the	Board	are	Independent	Non-executive	Directors	(“INED(s)”).	They	
represent	diverse	career	experience	 in	both	 international	and	 local	enterprises.	They	bring	with	them	diverse	
professional backgrounds, spanning media, property development and investment, banking, legal, valuation and 
advisory, hospitality and entrepreneurship. They also hold or have held important public service positions in Hong 
Kong and China, covering business, industry and commerce, sports, educations, regulatory and politics.

The board composition reflects various cultural and educational backgrounds, professional development, length 
of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad range of individual attributes, interests and values. The Board 
considers	the	current	line-up	has	provided	the	Company	with	a	good	balance	and	diversity	of	skills	and	experience	
for the requirements of its business. The Board will continue to review its composition from time to time taking into 
consideration board diversity for the requirements and benefits of the Company’s business.

(III) Operation of the Board
The Company is headed by an effective Board which makes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. 
The Company’s management has closely monitored changes to regulations that affect its corporate affairs and 
businesses, and changes to accounting standards, and adopted appropriate reporting format in its interim report, 
annual report and other related documents to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the 
Group’s performance, position and prospects. Where these changes are pertinent to the Company or Directors’ 
disclosure obligations, the Directors are either briefed during Board meetings or issued with regular updates and 
materials to keep them abreast of their responsibilities and of the conduct, business activities and development of 
the Group. Newly appointed Directors receive briefings and orientation on their legal and other responsibilities as a 
Director and the role of the Board. The Company has also provided appropriate information in a timely manner to the 
Directors to enable them to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities as Directors 
of the Company.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Decisions on important matters 
are specifically reserved to the Board while decisions on the Group’s general operations are delegated to the 
management. Important matters include those affecting the Group’s strategic policies, major investment and funding 
decisions and major commitments relating to the Group’s operations.

(IV) Directors’ Continuous Professional Development
The Company has arranged for Directors to attend training sessions which place emphasis on the roles, functions and 
duties of a listed company director. In addition to the training arranged by the Company, some of the Directors also 
received training organised by other companies and provided records thereof to the Company.

According to the records of training maintained by the Company Secretary, during the financial year under review, all 
the current Directors pursued continuous professional development and relevant details are set out below:

Directors Type of trainings (See Remarks)

Stephen T H Ng A
William J H Kwan A
Paul Y C Tsui A
T K Ho A
Herman S M Hu A
Roger K H Luk A, B
Sherman S M Tang (appointed with effect from January 1, 2014) N/A
Patrick Y W Wu A

Remarks:
A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
B: reading journals, updates, articles and/or materials, etc.
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(D) Chairman and Chief Executive
Mr	Stephen	T	H	Ng	serves	as	the	Chairman	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	the	Company.	This	is	a	deviation	from	Code	
Provision	A.2.1	with	respect	to	the	roles	of	chairman	and	chief	executive	(or	chief	executive	officer)	to	be	performed	by	
different individuals. Such deviation is deemed necessary as, given the nature and size of the Company’s business, it is at 
this stage considered to be more efficient to have one single person to hold both positions. The Board of Directors believes 
that	the	balance	of	power	and	authority	is	adequately	ensured	by	the	operations	of	the	Board	which	comprises	experienced	
and high calibre individuals, with more than half of them being INEDs.

(E) Non-executive Directors
All	those	existing	Directors	of	the	Company	who	do	not	hold	any	executive	office	of	the	Company	(including	INEDs)	have	
their respective terms of appointment coming to an end normally three years after their appointment to the Board or (in the 
case of Directors who were re-elected to the Board at previous Annual General Meetings) their last re-election as Directors. 
The re-election of each of those INEDs who has served on the Board for more than nine years is subject to (i) a separate 
resolution to be approved by Shareholders at the relevant Annual General Meeting; and (ii) further information being given to 
Shareholders together with the notice of meeting regarding the reasons why the Board believes the relevant Director is still 
independent and should be re-elected.

(F) Board Committees
(I) Audit Committee

The Company has set up an Audit Committee (“AC”) with all its members appointed from the INEDs.

All	AC	members	have	sufficient	experience	in	reviewing	audited	financial	statements	as	aided	by	the	auditors	of	the	
Group	whenever	required.	In	addition,	Mr	Roger	K	H	Luk	has	the	appropriate	professional	qualifications	or	experience	
in financial matters.

Three AC meetings were held during the financial year ended December 31, 2013. Attendance of the AC members is 
set out below:

Members Attendance/Number of Meetings

T K Ho, Chairman 3/3
Roger K H Luk 3/3
Patrick Y W Wu 3/3

(i) The terms of reference of the AC are aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code and the 
recommendations set out in “A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants. Given below are the main duties of the AC:

(A) Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(a) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, 
reappointment	and	removal	of	the	external	auditors,	and	to	approve	the	remuneration	and	terms	of	
engagement	of	the	external	auditors,	and	any	questions	of	their	resignation	or	dismissal;

(b)	 to	review	and	monitor	the	external	auditors’	independence	and	objectivity	and	the	effectiveness	of	
the audit process in accordance with applicable standards. The Committee should discuss with the 
auditors the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences; 
and

(c)	 to	develop	and	implement	policy	on	engaging	an	external	auditor	to	supply	non-audit	services.	For	
this	purpose,	“external	auditor”	includes	any	entity	that	is	under	common	control,	ownership	or	
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing 
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally or 
internationally. The Committee should report to the Board, identifying and making recommendations 
on any matters where action or improvement is needed.
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(F) Board Committees (continued)

(I) Audit Committee (continued)
(B) Review of financial information of the Company

(a) to monitor integrity of financial statements of the Company and the Company’s annual report and 
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant 
financial reporting judgements contained in them. In reviewing these reports before submission to 
the Board, the Committee should focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgemental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(b) regarding (B)(a) above:

(i) members of the Committee should liaise with the Company’s Board and Senior Management 
and the Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditors; and

(ii) the Committee should consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, 
reflected in the report and accounts, it should give due consideration to any matters that have 
been raised by the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting 
function, compliance officer or auditors.

(C) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures

(a) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management systems;

(b) to discuss the internal control system with management to ensure that management has performed 
its duty to have an effective internal control system. This discussion should include the adequacy of 
resources,	staff	qualifications	and	experience,	training	programmes	and	budget	of	the	Company’s	
accounting and financial reporting function;

(c) to consider major investigation findings on internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on 
its own initiative and management’s response to these findings;

(d)	 where	an	internal	audit	function	exists,	to	ensure	co-ordination	between	the	internal	and	external	
auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate 
standing within the Company, and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

(e) to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

(f)	 to	review	the	external	auditors’	management	letter,	any	material	queries	raised	by	the	auditors	to	
management about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s 
response;

(g)	 to	ensure	that	the	Board	will	provide	a	timely	response	to	the	issues	raised	in	the	external	auditors’	
management letter;
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(F) Board Committees (continued)

(I) Audit Committee (continued)
(C) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures (continued)

(h) to report to the Board on the matters in the Code Provisions in the Listing Rules;

(i) to establish procedures for (i) the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by 
the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; and (ii) 
the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns regarding 
questionable accounting or auditing matters;

(j) to review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The Committee should 
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters 
and for appropriate follow-up action;

(k)	 to	act	as	the	key	representative	body	for	overseeing	the	Company’s	relations	with	the	external	
auditors; and

(l) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

(D) Review and reassessment of these terms of reference

At least annually, the Committee shall review and reassess the adequacy of these terms of reference and 
recommend any proposed changes to the Board for approval.

(E) Oversight of the Company’s Corporate Governance Matters

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and Senior 
Management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to 
employees and Directors; and

(e) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

(ii) A Whistleblowing Policy & Procedures of the Group has been established and approved by the Company’s AC, 
which has the delegated authority and responsibility, for employees and those who deal with the Group (e.g. 
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence, with the Head of Human Resources Department, 
and	any	and	all	relevant	complaints	received	may	then	be	referred	to	the	AC	and/or	Chief	Executive	Officer	
about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group.
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(F) Board Committees (continued)

(I) Audit Committee (continued)
(iii) The other work performed by the AC for the financial year ended December 31, 2013 is summarised below:

(a)	 approval	of	the	remuneration	and	the	appointment	and	the	terms	of	engagement	of	the	external	auditors;

(b)	 review	of	the	external	auditors’	independence	and	objectivity	and	the	effectiveness	of	audit	process	in	
accordance with applicable standards;

(c) review of the half-year and annual financial statements before submission to the Board, with particular 
consideration of the points mentioned in paragraph (i)(B) above regarding the duties of the AC;

(d)	 discussion	with	the	external	auditors	before	the	audit	commences,	the	nature	and	scope	of	the	audit;

(e) review of the audit programme of the internal audit function;

(f) review of the Group’s financial controls, internal control and risk management systems; and

(g)	 meeting	with	the	external	auditors	without	executive	Board	members	present.

(II) Compensation Committee
The Company has set up a Compensation Committee (“CC”) consisting of two INEDs.

One CC meeting was held during the financial year ended December 31, 2013. Attendance of the CC members is set 
out below:

Members Attendance/Number of Meeting

T K Ho, Chairman 1/1
Patrick Y W Wu 1/1

(i) The terms of reference of the CC are aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code. Given below are the 
main duties of the CC:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and 
Senior Management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for 
developing remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate 
goals and objectives;

(c) either:

(i)	 to	determine,	with	delegated	responsibility,	the	remuneration	packages	of	 individual	executive	
Directors and Senior Management; or

(ii)	 to	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	the	remuneration	packages	of	 individual	executive	
Directors and Senior Management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any 
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d)	 to	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	the	remuneration	of	non-executive	Directors;
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(F) Board Committees (continued)

(II) Compensation Committee (continued)
(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and 

employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(f)	 to	review	and	approve	compensation	payable	to	executive	Directors	and	Senior	Management	for	any	
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is 
otherwise	fair	and	not	excessive;

(g) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for 
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and 
appropriate;

(h) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration;

(i) to advise Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service contracts of Directors that require 
Shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules;

(j) to decide with respect to the Employee Share Option Scheme (if any):

(i) the Employees to whom Options shall be granted;

(ii) the number of Shares subject to each Option;

(iii) the date on which Options shall be granted; and

(iv) the Subscription Price; and

(k) to review any compensation related or other issues as requested by the Board.

(ii) The work performed by the CC, which has the delegated authority and responsibility, for the financial year 
ended December 31, 2013 is summarised below:

(a) review of the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and Senior Management;

(b) consideration and approval of the emoluments for all Directors and Senior Management; and

(c) review of the level of fees for Directors and AC members.

The basis of determining the emoluments payable to its Directors and Senior Management by the Company is 
by reference to the level of emoluments normally paid by a listed company in Hong Kong to directors and senior 
executives	of	comparable	calibre	and	job	responsibilities	so	as	to	ensure	a	fair	and	competitive	remuneration	package	
as is fit and appropriate. The basis of determining the fee payable to each of the Directors of the Company, currently 
at the rate of HK$60,000 per annum, and the fee payable to each of those Directors who are also members of the AC 
of the Company, currently at the rate of HK$20,000 per annum, is by reference to the level of fees of similar nature 
normally paid by a listed company in Hong Kong to its directors.
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(F) Board Committees (continued)

(III) Nomination Committee
The Company has set up a Nomination Committee comprising 3 members, namely, the Chairman of the Company 
Mr Stephen T H Ng (as the chairman of the Committee) and two INEDs, namely, Mr T K Ho and Mr Patrick Y W Wu.

(i) The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code. 
Given below are the main duties of the Nomination Committee:

(a)	 to	review	the	structure,	size	and	composition	(including	the	skills,	knowledge	and	experience)	of	the	Board	
at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations 
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of INEDs; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and 
succession	planning	for	Directors,	in	particular	the	Chairman	of	the	Board	and	the	chief	executive.

(ii) The work performed by the Nomination Committee for the financial year ended December 31, 2013 is the 
nomination of a candidate as an additional Director (being an INED) of the Company for the Board’s approval.

During the financial year ended December 31, 2013, no physical meeting of the Nomination Committee was 
held and the nomination of the INED of the Company mentioned above was dealt with by way of circulation of 
written resolution approved by the Nomination Committee.

(IV) Corporate Governance Functions
While the Board is and remains to be principally responsible for the corporate governance functions of the Company, 
it has delegated the relevant duties to the AC to ensure the proper performance of corporate governance functions 
of the Company. In this connection, the terms of reference of the AC include various duties relating to corporate 
governance matters which are set out in paragraph “(E) Oversight of the Company’s Corporate Governance Matters” 
on page 15 under sub-section “(I) Audit Committee” of section “(F) BOARD COMMITTEES” above.

(G) Auditors’ Remuneration
The	fees	in	relation	to	the	audit	services	for	the	financial	year	ended	December	31,	2013	provided	by	KPMG,	the	external	
auditors of the Company, amounted to HK$2.9 million.

(H) Internal Control
The Directors are ultimately responsible for the internal control system of the Group and, through the AC, have reviewed 
the	effectiveness	of	the	system,	including	the	adequacy	of	resources,	qualifications	and	experience	of	staff	of	the	Group’s	
accounting and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget. The internal control system 
comprises a well-defined organisational structure with specified limits of authority in place. Areas of responsibility of each 
business and operational units are also clearly defined to ensure effective checks and balances.

Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition, maintenance of proper 
accounting records, assurance of the reliability of financial information for internal use or publication and compliance with 
relevant legislation and regulations. Such procedures are designed to manage risks of failure in operational systems and can 
provide reasonable assurance against material errors, losses or fraud.

The internal audit function monitors compliance with policies and standards and the effectiveness of internal control 
structures	across	the	whole	Group.	Findings	regarding	internal	control	matters	are	reported	to	the	AC.	The	external	auditors	
have access to a full set of internal audit reports.
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(H) Internal Control (continued)

A review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and procedures covering all controls, including financial, 
operational and compliance and risk management, and the adequacy of, inter alia,	resources,	qualifications,	experience	and	
training of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function was conducted by the AC and subsequently 
reported to the Board during the financial year ended December 31, 2013. Based on the result of the review, in respect of 
the financial year ended December 31, 2013, the Directors considered that the internal control system and procedures of 
the Group were effective and adequate.

(I) Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements for the financial year ended December 
31, 2013, which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash 
flow for the year then ended and in compliance with the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the 
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

In preparing the financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2013:

(i) appropriate accounting policies are selected, applied consistently and in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards;

(ii) prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates are made; and

(iii) the reasons for any significant departure from applicable accounting standards are stated, if applicable.

(J) Communication with Shareholders
A Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted by the Company to ensure that Shareholders are provided with 
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the Company (including its financial 
performance, strategic goals and plans, material developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable Shareholders 
to	exercise	their	rights	in	an	informed	manner,	and	to	allow	Shareholders	and	the	investment	community	to	engage	actively	
with the Company.

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and comprehensive and transparent reporting of its 
performance and activities. Annual and interim reports are published/printed and printed copies of such reports or 
notifications of publication thereof on the Company’s website are sent to all Shareholders. Such reports and press releases 
are posted and are available for download at the Company’s corporate website www.i-cablecomm.com. Constantly being 
updated in a timely manner, the website contains a wide range of additional information on the Group’s business activities. 
As a standard part of the investor relations programme to maintain a constant dialogue on the Group’s performance and 
objectives,	senior	executives	hold	regular	briefings	and	attend	conferences	with	institutional	investors	and	financial	analysts.

The Company encourages its Shareholders to attend Annual General Meetings to ensure a high level of accountability and 
for Shareholders to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and goals.

The	Board	and	external	auditors	attend	the	Annual	General	Meetings	to	answer	Shareholders’	questions.

(K) Shareholders’ Rights
(I) Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance (the “CO”) (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), on written 
requisition by Shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having a right to vote 
at	general	meetings,	the	Directors	of	the	Company	must	convene	an	extraordinary	general	meeting.

(II) Send Enquiries to the Board
The Company’s corporate website (www.i-cablecomm.com) provides email address (for enquiry purpose only), postal 
address,	fax	number	and	telephone	number	by	which	Shareholders	may	at	any	time	address	their	enquiries	to	the	
Company’s Board.
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(K) Shareholders’ Rights (continued)

(III) Make Proposals at General Meetings
(i) The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as Director(s) at a Shareholders’ meeting are set out in 

the Corporate Information section of the Company’s corporate website.

(ii) The procedures for proposing resolution(s) to be moved at the Company’s annual general meeting(s) are as 
follows:

Pursuant to Section 615 of the CO, Shareholder(s) can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at the 
Company’s annual general meeting(s) if they represent:

•	 at	least	2.5%	of	the	total	voting	rights	of	all	Shareholders	who	have	a	right	to	vote	at	the	annual	general	
meeting to which the requests relate; or

•	 at	least	50	members	who	have	a	right	to	vote	on	the	resolution	at	the	annual	general	meeting	to	which	
the requests relate.

The relevant written requisition must–

(a) identify the resolution of which notice is to be given;

(b) be authenticated by the person or persons making it; and

(c) be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks before the relevant annual general meeting to which 
the requests relate; or if later, the time at which notice is given of that meeting.

Any written requisitions from Shareholders pursuant to Sections 566 and 615 of the CO must be sent to the Company 
to be deposited at the Company’s registered office (16th Floor, Ocean Centre, Harbour City, Canton Road, Kowloon, 
Hong Kong).

(L) Amendments to Constitutional Documents
There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the financial year ended December 31, 
2013.

However, in accordance with the CO which came into effect on March 3, 2014, the Company’s memorandum of 
association	is	technically	regarded	to	have	ceased	to	be	in	existence,	and	all	provisions	thereof	have	been	deemed	to	form	
part of the Company’s articles of association by operation of laws. In addition, a special resolution for adoption of a revised 
set of articles of association (“New Articles”) in line with the CO is proposed for consideration and, if thought fit, approval 
by the Shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on June 4, 2014. Please refer to the Company’s 
circular to shareholders dated April 29, 2014 for details of those major changes to be effected by the proposed adoption of 
the New Articles.
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The Directors submit herewith their Report and the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2013.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and those of its subsidiaries which principally affected the results, 
assets or liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 17 to the Financial Statements on page 65.

Results, Appropriations and Reserves
The results of the Group for the financial year ended December 31, 2013 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or 
Loss and the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on pages 31 and 32 respectively.

Appropriations and movements in reserves during the financial year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Equity on page 36.

Dividend
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2013.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment during the financial year are set out in Note 12 to the Financial Statements on pages 
62 and 63.

Donations
The Group made donations during the financial year totalling HK$53,600.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the financial year were Mr Stephen T H Ng, Mr William J H Kwan, Mr T K Ho, Mr Herman 
S M Hu, Mr Roger K H Luk, Mr Paul Y C Tsui, Mr Patrick Y W Wu. Mr Sherman S M Tang was appointed as Independent Non-
executive	Director	effective	January	1,	2014.

Mr. Sherman S M Tang who was appointed as Director of the Company after the last Annual General Meeting, is due to retire 
from the Board in accordance with Article 78 of the Company’s Articles of Association, and Messrs T K Ho and Patrick Y W Wu 
are due to retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Mr. T K Ho has decided not to stand for 
re-election. Being eligible, Messrs Sherman S M Tang and Patrick Y W Wu offer themselves for re-election. None of the retiring 
Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service contract with the Company which is 
not determinable by the employer within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Interests in Contracts
No contract of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries or its ultimate holding 
company or any subsidiary of that ultimate holding company was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time during that financial year.

Management Contracts
There	was	in	existence	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2013	a	management	services	agreement	dated	November	1,	
1999 with Wharf Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Wharf (Holdings) Limited (“Wharf”)), as revised by supplemental 
agreements, whereby Wharf Limited agreed to continue to provide or procure the provision of services including corporate 
secretarial services, treasury services, provision of management personnel and other general corporate services to the Group for 
a	term	expiring	on	December	31,	2015.	Mr	Stephen	T	H	Ng	and	Mr	Paul	Y	C	Tsui	were	directors	of	Wharf	and/or	Wharf	Limited	
and are accordingly regarded as interested in the said agreement.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures
At no time during the financial year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of such 
ultimate holding company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of 
acquisition	of	shares	in	or	debentures	of	the	Company	or	any	other	body	corporate,	with	the	exception	that	during	the	year,	there	
existed	certain	outstanding	options	to	subscribe	for	ordinary	shares	of	Wharf,	the	Company‘s	parent	company,	and	of	Wheelock	
and Company Limited (“Wheelock”), the Company’s ultimate holding company, granted under Wharf’s share option scheme 
and Wheelock’s share option scheme respectively to certain employees/directors of companies in Wharf group and in Wheelock 
group respectively, some of whom were Directors of the Company during the financial year.

Under the rules of the two share option schemes, shares of Wharf and/or Wheelock would be issued at such respective prices 
as being not less than the highest of (a) the indicative price as specified in the written offer; (b) the closing price on The Stock 
Exchange	of	Hong	Kong	Limited	(the	“Stock	Exchange”)	on	the	date	of	grant	of	the	options;	(c)	the	average	closing	price	on	the	
Stock	Exchange	for	the	five	trading	days	immediately	preceding	the	date	of	grant;	and	(d)	the	nominal	value	of	a	share;	and	the	
relevant	options	would	be	exercisable	during	such	periods,	not	being	beyond	the	expiration	of	10	years	from	the	date	of	grant	of	
relevant options, as determined by the boards of directors of Wharf and/or Wheelock respectively.

During the financial year, 300,000 shares of Wharf were allotted and issued to Mr. Paul Y. C. Tsui, a Director of the Company, on 
his	exercise	of	options	under	Wharf’s	share	option	scheme	while	no	share	of	Wheelock	was	alloted	and	issued	to	any	Director	of	
the Company under Wheelock’s share option scheme.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the 
financial year.

Auditors
The Financial Statements now presented have been audited by KPMG, Certified Public Accountants, who retire and being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board
H O Hung
Secretary

Hong Kong, February 26, 2014
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Supplementary Corporate Information
(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Managers etc.

(i) Directors

Stephen Tin Hoi NG, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Age: 61)
Mr	Ng	has	been	Director	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	the	Company	since	1999	and	became	its	Chairman	in	August	
2001. He also serves as a member and the chairman of the Company’s Nomination Committee. He is the deputy 
chairman of publicly-listed Wheelock and Company Limited (“Wheelock”), which is the ultimate holding company of 
the Company, and deputy chairman and managing director of publicly-listed The Wharf (Holdings) Limited (“Wharf”), 
of which the Company is a subsidiary, as well as chairman of Harbour Centre Development Limited (“HCDL”) and 
chairman of Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited (“WPSL”), both being publicly-listed fellow subsidiaries of 
the	Company.	Furthermore,	Mr	Ng	is	chairman	of	Modern	Terminals	Limited,	chairman	and	chief	executive	officer	
of	Wharf	T&T	Limited	(“WTT”),	and	director	and	chief	executive	officer	of	Wharf	Communications	Limited	(“Wharf	
Communications”), all being fellow subsidiaries of the Company, as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the 
Company.	Mr	Ng	is	also	the	chairman	of	Joyce	Boutique	Holdings	Limited	(“Joyce”)	and	a	non-executive	director	of	
Greentown China Holdings Limited (“Greentown”), both being publicly-listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr Ng attended Ripon College in Ripon, Wisconsin, USA and the University of Bonn, Germany, from 1971 to 1975, 
and graduated with a major in mathematics. He is vice chairman of The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 
and a council member of the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong.

The basic salary and various allowances (covered by service contract) of Mr Ng for the year 2014, calculated on an 
annualised	basis,	would	be	approximately	HK$1.89	million	(2013:	HK$1.80	million)	per	annum.

William Jut Ho KWAN, Director and Chief Financial Officer (Age: 50)
Mr Kwan was appointed Chief Financial Officer in January 2006 and a Director of the Company in February 2007. He 
is responsible for finance, accounting, planning, corporate development, investor relations, new media development, 
film production and distribution, broadcasting and engineering operations, commercial dealings with acquired 
channels, human resources and administration. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Under the 
existing	service	contract	between	the	Group	and	Mr	Kwan,	his	basic	salary	and	various	allowances	for	the	year	2014,	
calculated	on	an	annualised	basis,	would	be	approximately	HK$2.08	million	(2013:	HK$1.99	million)	per	annum.

Ting Kwan HO, Director (Age: 69)
Mr	Ho	has	been	an	Independent	Non-executive	Director	(“INED”)	of	the	Company	since	2009.	He	also	serves	as	a	
member and the chairman of each of the Company’s Audit Committee and Compensation Committee, and a member 
of	the	Company’s	Nomination	Committee.	Mr	Ho	has	over	40	years	of	comprehensive	experience	in	the	television	
broadcasting industry. He joined Television Broadcasts Limited (“TVB”), publicly listed in Hong Kong, in 1968. He was 
appointed general manager-television broadcasting of TVB in November 1995, became its group general manager 
in 2002, and was appointed a director of TVB in June 2003. In April 2005, he resigned from TVB but remained as a 
director until April 2007. In mid-2007, Mr Ho joined Asia Television Limited and became its chief operating officer until 
his retirement at the end of 2008.

Herman Shao Ming HU, BBS, JP, Director (Age: 59)
Mr Hu, BSc, FCIBSE, FHKIE, MIEEE. C. Eng., has been an INED of the Company since 2012. He is the chairman of 
Ryoden Development Limited. Mr Hu has been elected to be a Deputy of the 12th National People’s Congress. He is 
also the Council Chairman of City University of Hong Kong, a member of Hong Kong Sports Commission, a director of 
Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited, a member of Council on Human Reproductive Technology, an 
Honorary Court Member of Hong Kong University of Science & Technology, a member of the Election Committee of 
the Government of the HKSAR and the Vice Patron of The Community Chest of Hong Kong.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Managers etc. (continued)

(i) Directors (continued)

Roger Koon Hoo LUK, BBS, JP, Director (Age: 62)
Mr Luk, FHKIB, has been an INED of the Company since 2010. He also serves as a member of the Company’s Audit 
Committee.	He	has	over	30	years	of	comprehensive	experience	in	accounting	and	financial	management.	He	joined	
Hang	Seng	Bank	in	1975,	became	the	bank’s	director	and	deputy	chief	executive	in	1994	and	then	became	managing	
director	and	deputy	chief	executive	of	the	bank	in	1996	until	his	retirement	in	May	2005.	Mr	Luk	is	an	INED	of	three	
companies publicly listed in Hong Kong, namely, China Properties Group Limited, Computime Group Limited and 
Hung Hing Printing Group Limited, and also an INED of AXA General Insurance Hong Kong Limited and Octopus 
Cards Limited. Mr Luk was formerly an INED of Wheelock Properties Limited (“WPL”, formerly a listed public 
company until it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wheelock in July 2010) from February 2008 to July 2010. 
He also serves as a council member and the treasurer of The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and a member of 
The Town Planning Board. Mr Luk also served in the past on the Court and Council of Hong Kong Baptist University, 
the	Advisory	Committee	on	New	Broad-based	Taxes,	the	Personal	Data	(Privacy)	Advisory	Committee,	the	Central	
Policy Unit of the Hong Kong Government, the Statistics Advisory Board, the Broadcasting Authority, the Advisory 
Committee and the Investor Education Advisory Committee of the Securities and Futures Commission and the 
Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. He was an appointed member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council from 1992 
to 1995, and also a member of the first Election Committee of the Legislative Council.

Mr Luk graduated with a Bachelor of Social Sciences Degree in Statistics from The University of Hong Kong and also 
holds a Master of Business Administration Degree granted by The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is also a 
Non-official Justice of the Peace and was awarded the honour of Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2004 in recognition of his 
contributions to public services.

Sherman Sing Ming TANG, Director (Age: 56)
Mr. Tang has been appointed an INED of the Company with effect from January 1, 2014. He is chairman and chief 
executive	officer	of	Epicurean	and	Company,	Limited,	a	company	listed	on	the	Stock	Exchange.	He	holds	a	Master	
degree in Electrical Engineering and a degree of Doctor in Medicine from the University of Southern California, the 
United States of America. Mr. Tang is a seasoned entrepreneur in the hospitality industry and currently owns a well-
established management and consultancy group in Hong Kong which creates and operates a wide variety of food and 
beverage	concepts.	He	has	over	20	years	of	experience	in	investment	and	operation	of	restaurants,	cafes	and	bars.

Paul Yiu Cheung TSUI, Director (Age: 67)
Mr Tsui, FCCA, FCPA, FCMA, FCIS, CGA-Canada,	has	been	a	Director	of	the	Company	since	2009.	He	is	an	executive	
director and group chief financial officer of both Wheelock and Wharf. Mr Tsui joined Wheelock/Wharf group in 1996 
and became Wheelock’s director in 1998. He is presently a director of HCDL and WPSL, both being publicly-listed 
fellow subsidiaries of the Company. Furthermore, he is the vice chairman of WPL as well as a director of certain 
subsidiaries	of	the	Company.	Mr	Tsui	is	also	a	director	of	Joyce	and	a	non-executive	director	of	Greentown.

Patrick Yung Wei WU, Director (Age: 61)
Mr Wu has been an INED of the Company since 2007. He also serves as a member of each of the Company’s Audit 
Committee, Compensation Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr Wu is the president & managing director 
of	American	Appraisal	China	Limited.	Mr	Wu	has	worked	both	in	 industry	as	a	senior	executive	with	extensive	
management	experience	and	in	private	practice	as	a	 lawyer.	He	was	a	partner	of	an	international	 law	firm	with	
particular responsibility for China trade advice. Mr Wu was educated in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. He 
graduated from the University of London in 1974 with a Bachelor’s Degree in Science, and obtained his Master of 
Business Administration Degree from the Cass Business School, City University in London in 1976. Mr Wu was 
admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court in the UK in 1982 and in Hong Kong also in 1982 and is a member (non-
practising) of The Law Society of Hong Kong. He is also an active member of various professional organisations, 
chambers of commerce and the business community in Hong Kong.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Managers etc. (continued)

(i) Directors (continued)

Notes:

(1) Wheelock and Wharf (Mr Stephen T H Ng and Mr Paul Y C Tsui being directors of both of them) have interests in the share 
capital of the Company discloseable to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”).

(2) The Company confirms that it has received written confirmation from each of the INEDs of the Company confirming their 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock 
Exchange, and considers them independent.

(ii) Senior Management

Stephen T H Ng, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

William J H Kwan, Director & Chief Financial Officer

Ronald Y C Chiu, Executive Director, i-CABLE News Limited and i-CABLE Sports Limited (Age: 61)
Mr Chiu was appointed Assistant News Controller in June 1993 and was instrumental in the launch of the first 24-
hour Cantonese language News Channel in the world. Mr Chiu was promoted to News Controller in 1994 and 
appointed	as	Vice	President,	News	&	Sports	in	2002.	He	became	an	executive	director	of	i-CABLE	News	Limited	
and i-CABLE Sports Limited in September 2005 responsible for operating channels of the Sports and News platform. 
Prior	to	joining	the	Company,	Mr	Chiu	held	various	senior	news	positions	in	the	television	industry.	His	experience	
spans	from	reporting,	editing,	news	anchoring;	to	planning	and	execution	of	news	coverage	as	well	as	management	
of news operation. He was made Honorary University Fellow of the Hong Kong Baptist University in 2012 in 
recognition of his contributions to broadcasting news.

Samuel C C Tsang, Executive Director, i-CABLE Entertainment Limited and Hong Kong Cable Enterprises Limited (Age: 
57)
Mr Tsang was appointed Enterprises Director in 1995 to take charge of international programme licensing and 
advertising sales for the station. He became chief operating officer of Hong Kong Cable Enterprises Limited (“HKCE”) 
when it was set up in 2000 to take over advertising sales of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited (“HKC”). He became 
General	Manager	of	both	HKCE	and	Hong	Kong	Cable	News	Express	Limited	on	March	1,	2005.	Mr	Tsang	has	
extensive	experience	in	media	and	marketing,	specialising	in	new	business	establishment	in	Mainland	China	and	
Hong	Kong.	He	assumed	the	additional	position	of	Executive	Director,	i-CABLE	Entertainment	Limited,	in	March	2011,	
and is also responsible for the operation and development of the Group’s entertainment platform.

Simon K K Yu, Senior Vice President, i-CABLE Network Operations Limited (Age: 59)
Mr Yu joined the Wharf group in 1987 and has held various administration and audit positions in the Wharf group. 
He was appointed corporate controller-operations of Wharf Communications in 1992, responsible for operations, 
accounting, finance, control, administration and personnel. In 1996, Mr Yu was appointed Administration and 
Audit Director of HKC. He became Vice President-i-CABLE Network Operations Limited in 2006 to take charge of 
operations of the company’s HFC & MMDS networks.

Helina Wong, Vice President, Subscription Marketing & Sales (Age: 43)
Ms Wong joined the Company in July 2012 and is responsible for the growth and development of our Pay TV, 
Broadband and Telephony services. She started her career in advertising before moving to the telecommunications 
sector. Before joining the Company, she was General Manager of ecTelecom Limited, a Wharf Group subsidiary, 
providing residential and SME users with telecommunications solutions.

S Y Wai, Vice President, External Affairs & Service Operations (Age: 49)
Mr	Wai	joined	the	Group	in	2011	and	is	responsible	for	external	affairs,	legal	and	regulatory	affairs	as	well	as	customer	
service. He came from a diverse media, public affairs and business background, having held key positions in private 
and public organisations in Hong Kong before joining the Company.
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(B) Directors’ Interests in Shares
At December 31, 2013, Directors of the Company had the following beneficial interests, all being long positions, in the 
securities of the Company, Wharf (which is the Company’s parent company), Wheelock (which is Wharf’s parent company), 
Wharf Finance (No. 1) Limited and Wheelock Finance Limited (all being fellow subsidiaries of the Company), and the 
percentages (where applicable) which the relevant securities represented to the issued share capitals of the five relevant 
companies respectively are also set out below:

 Quantity held
 (percentage of issued capital,
 where applicable) Nature of interest

The Company – Ordinary Shares
Stephen T H Ng 1,265,005 (0.0629%) Personal interest

Wheelock – Ordinary Shares
Stephen T H Ng 300,000 (0.0148%) Personal interest
Paul Y C Tsui (Note 1) 1,500,000 (0.0738%) Personal interest in
   options for shares

Wharf – Ordinary Shares
Stephen T H Ng (Note 2) 4,304,445 (0.1421%) Personal interest in
   804,445 shares
   and options for
   3,500,000 shares

Paul Y C Tsui (Note 3) 2,200,000 (0.0726%) Personal interest in
   options for shares

Wharf Finance (No. 1) Limited – HKD Fixed Rate Notes due 2020
Roger K H Luk HK$4,000,000 Personal interest

Wheelock Finance Limited – HKD Guaranteed Notes due 2017
Roger K H Luk HK$2,000,000 Personal interest

Notes:

(1) The 1,500,000 Wheelock share options represent the outstanding options granted to Mr Paul Y C Tsui under Wheelock’s share 
option scheme in June 2013 which have not yet been exercised by Mr Tsui.

(2) Of the 3,500,000 Wharf share options, 1,500,000 options and 2,000,000 options represent the outstanding options granted to Mr 
Stephen T H Ng under Wharf’s share option scheme in July 2011 and June 2013 respectively which have not yet been exercised by 
Mr Ng.

(3) Of the 2,200,000 Wharf share options, 1,200,000 options and 1,000,000 options represent the outstanding options granted to Mr 
Paul Y C Tsui under Wharf’s share option scheme in July 2011 and June 2013 respectively which have not yet been exercised by Mr 
Tsui.

Except	as	disclosed	above,	as	recorded	in	the	register	kept	by	the	Company	under	section	352	of	the	SFO	in	respect	of	
information	required	to	be	notified	to	the	Company	and	the	Stock	Exchange	by	the	Directors	and/or	Chief	Executive	of	the	
Company	pursuant	to	the	SFO	or	to	the	Model	Code	for	Securities	Transactions	by	Directors	of	Listed	Issuers	in	Appendix	
10 of the Listing Rules, there were no interests, both long and short positions, held as at December 31, 2013 by any of the 
Directors	or	Chief	Executive	of	the	Company	in	shares,	underlying	shares	or	debentures	of	the	Company	and	its	associated	
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), nor had there been any rights to subscribe for any shares, 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations held by any of them at any time during the 
financial year.
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(C) Substantial Shareholders’ Interests
Given below are the names of all parties which were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value 
of any class of share capital of the Company as at December 31, 2013, the respective relevant numbers of shares in which 
they were, and/or were deemed to be, interested as at that date as recorded in the register kept by the Company under 
section 336 of the SFO (the “Register”) and the percentages which the shares represented to the issued share capital of 
the Company:

  No. of ordinary shares
Names (percentage of issued capital)

(i) The Wharf (Holdings) Limited 1,480,505,171 (73.60%)
(ii) Wheelock and Company Limited 1,481,442,626 (73.65%)
(iii) HSBC Trustee (Guernsey) Limited 1,481,442,626 (73.65%)

Notes:

(1) For the avoidance of doubt and double counting, it should be noted that duplication occurs in respect of the shareholdings stated 
against parties (i) to (iii) above to the extent that the shareholding stated against party (i) above was entirely duplicated or included in 
that against party (ii) above, and the shareholdings stated against parties (ii) and (iii) represented the same block of shares.

(2) Wheelock’s deemed shareholding interests stated above were held through, inter alia, its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely, 
Wheelock Investments Limited and WF Investment Partners Limited.

(3) Wharf’s deemed shareholding interests stated above were held through its wholly-owned subsidiary, namely, Wharf 
Communications Limited.

All the interests stated above represented long positions and as at December 31, 2013, there were no short position 
interests recorded in the Register.

(D) Retirement Scheme and Mandatory Provident Fund
The principal retirement scheme operated by the Group is a defined contribution retirement scheme for its employees, 
established under a trust deed. Other fellow subsidiaries of the Company also participate in the scheme.

The scheme is funded by contributions from employees and employers. The employees and employers contribute 
respectively to the scheme sums which represent percentages of the employees’ salaries as defined under the trust deed. 
Forfeited contributions may be utilised by the employers to reduce contributions.

The	Group’s	principal	retirement	scheme	is	closed	to	new	employees	joining	after	October	1,	2000	while	existing	members	
of the scheme can continue to accrue future benefits.

Employees joining after October 1, 2000 will participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) with terms as stipulated 
by the MPF Authority. The Group will also provide voluntary top-up benefits to employees receiving a monthly basic salary 
exceeding	the	statutory	limits	prescribed	by	the	MPF	Ordinance.

The Group’s retirement scheme costs before capitalisation and charged to the consolidated income statement during the 
financial year ended December 31, 2013 amounted to HK$20,251,963 (2012: HK$20,166,826) which were incurred after 
utilisation of forfeitures to reduce the Group’s contributions of HK$431,303 (2012: HK$436,463).

Note:

The total employers’ cost in respect of the retirement scheme of the Group, including the cost related to the MPF which is not operated by 
the Group, charged to consolidated income statement during the financial year ended December 31, 2013 amounted to HK$35,963,299 
(2012: HK$35,966,364).
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(E) Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
Set out below is information disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules:

Two Directors of the Company, namely, Mr Stephen T H Ng and Mr Paul Y C Tsui, being also directors of WTT (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Wharf), are considered as having an interest in WTT under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

WTT currently holds a Unified Carrier Licence to provide, inter alia, telecommunications services to commercial customers. 
WTT is therefore a potential competitor of the Group for the provision of facility-based telecommunication services at 
present and in future.

In	order	to	protect	the	interests	of	the	Group,	prior	to	the	date	of	listing	of	shares	of	the	Company	on	the	Stock	Exchange,	
each of Wharf and Wharf Communications (being a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wharf) has covenanted with the Company, 
subject to certain conditions, not to, and to use its best endeavours to procure that none of the directly or indirectly held 
subsidiaries (including WTT) and associated companies of Wharf will, either alone or jointly with any other party, directly 
and indirectly carry on, or be engaged or concerned or interested in or assist, any business in Hong Kong which would 
compete directly or indirectly with the TV and Internet access businesses of the Group from time to time.

The Group considers that its interests in the relevant sector of its communications businesses are adequately safeguarded 
and the Group is capable of carrying on its communications businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, WTT.

For further safeguarding of the interests of the Group, the INEDs and the Audit Committee of the Company would on a 
regular basis review the business and operational results of the Group to ensure, inter alia, that the Group’s communications 
businesses are and continue to be run on the basis that they are independent of, and at arm’s length from, that of the Wharf 
group.

(F) Major Customers and Suppliers
For the financial year ended December 31, 2013:

(i) the aggregate amount of purchases (not including the purchases of items which are of a capital nature) attributable to 
the Group’s five largest suppliers represented less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases; and

(ii) the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represented less than 30% of the 
Group’s total turnover.

(G) Bank Loans, Overdrafts and Other Borrowings
The Group did not have any bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings outstanding as at December 31, 2013.

(H) Public Float
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of 
this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the financial year 
ended December 31, 2013.

(I) Disclosure of Connected Transactions
(i) Set out below is information in relation to certain continuing connected transactions (the “Transactions”) between 

the Company (the Company being a 73.8%-owned subsidiary of Wharf) and/or its subsidiaries (together, the 
“Group”) and other subsidiaries or affiliates of Wharf, which were substantially disclosed in the announcements of 
the Company dated December 14, 2012, December 18, 2012 and January 29, 2014 and are required under the Listing 
Rules to be disclosed in the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Company:
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(I) Disclosure of Connected Transactions (continued)
  Amounts for the
  financial year ended
  December 31, 2013
Description of the Transactions HK$ million

(1) Master Tenancy Agreement
 Amount paid/payable by the Group 44.5

(2) Master Licence Agreement for Wharf group to occupy premises
 Amount received/receivable by the Group 6.3

(3) Master Services Agreement
 1. Amount received/receivable by the Group 26.4
 2. Amount paid/payable by the Group 26.8

(4) Management services provided by Wharf group
 Amount paid/payable by the Group 9.2

The Transactions are subject to various annual cap amounts previously disclosed in the abovementioned 
announcements of the Company. The purposes of entering into the Transactions are for the continued operation and 
growth of the Group’s business, for generation of recurrent rental revenue to the Group and/or maintaining revenue 
stream for the Group.

The master tenancy agreement (numbered (1) above) as supplemented by the first supplemental agreement (together 
the	“MTA”)	will	expire	on	December	31,	2014.	On	January	29,	2014,	a	second	supplemental	agreement	to	MTA	was	
entered into between the Company and Wharf whereby certain major terms of the MTA were revised including, inter 
alia,	the	extension	of	the	duration	of	MTA	for	two	more	years	commencing	January	1,	2015.

(ii) Confirmation from Directors etc.

The Directors, including the INEDs, of the Company have reviewed the Transactions and have confirmed that the 
Transactions were entered into:

(a) by the Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient comparable transactions, on terms that are no 
less favourable than those available to or from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such Transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable 
and in the interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Furthermore, the auditors of the Company have advised the following:

1. the Transactions had been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors;

2. the Transactions, including those which involved provisions of goods or services by the Group, are in accordance 
with the pricing policies of the Group, where applicable;

3. the Transactions were entered into in accordance with the terms of the related agreements governing the 
Transactions; and

4.	 the	relevant	cap	amounts	have	not	been	exceeded	during	the	financial	year	ended	December	31,	2013.

Note:

Certain particulars of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the financial year ended December 31, 2013 
under review have been disclosed in Note 36 to the Financial Statements on page 79. Those related party transactions also 
constitute connected transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) for the Company.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of i-CABLE Communications Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of i-CABLE Communications Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together “the Group”) set out on pages 31 to 81, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial position 
as at December 31, 2013, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year 
then	ended	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	consolidated	financial	statements	based	on	our	audit.	This	report	is	made	
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We 
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair	view	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the 
Group as at December 31, 2013 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

February 26, 2014
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  2013 2012
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 3,4 1,931,754 2,127,204

Programming costs  (1,087,919) (1,427,602)
Network	expenses	 	 (219,637) (222,519)
Selling,	general	and	administrative	and	other	operating	expenses	 	 (371,657) (389,423)
Cost of sales  (103,168) (109,910)

Profit/(loss) from operations before depreciation  149,373 (22,250)

Depreciation 5 (237,211) (252,479)

Loss from operations 4 (87,838) (274,729)

Interest income 5 476 842
Finance costs, net 5 (2,695) (3,605)
Impairment losses on investment 5 – (1,083)
Non-operating income 5 61 5,674

Loss before taxation 5 (89,996) (272,901)

Income	tax	 6(a) (2,914) (5,434)

Loss for the year  (92,910) (278,335)

Attributable to:
 Equity shareholders of the Company  (92,910) (278,335)
 Non-controlling interests  – –

Loss for the year  (92,910) (278,335)

Loss per share 11

Basic  (4.6) cents (13.8) cents

Diluted  (4.6) cents (13.8) cents

The notes on pages 40 to 81 form part of these financial statements.
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  2013 2012
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year  (92,910) (278,335)

Other comprehensive income for the year
 (after reclassification adjustment) 10
 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
	 	 Exchange	difference	on	translation	of	foreign	subsidiaries’	financial	statements	 	 569 (115)

Total comprehensive income for the year  (92,341) (278,450)

Attributable to:
 Equity shareholders of the Company  (92,341) (278,450)
 Non-controlling interests  – –

Total comprehensive income for the year  (92,341) (278,450)

The notes on pages 40 to 81 form part of these financial statements.
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  2013 2012
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 934,310 1,024,223
Programming library 13 137,465 108,945
Other intangible assets 14 3,767 3,767
Interest in associate 15 – –
Deferred	tax	assets	 30(b) 311,373 322,551
Other non-current assets 16 55,688 58,580

  1,442,603 1,518,066

Current assets
Inventories 19 13,884 5,947
Accounts receivable from trade debtors 20 80,120 88,936
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 20 53,794 62,202
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 21 1,404 1,823
Bank deposits and cash 22 182,028 288,287

  331,230 447,195

Current liabilities
Amounts due to trade creditors 23 89,535 106,488
Accrued	expenses	and	other	payables	 23 217,394 184,266
Receipts in advance and customers’ deposits 23 199,382 208,034
Current	taxation	 30(a) 232 696
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 25 30,886 27,043
Amount due to immediate holding company 26 1,642 1,770

  539,071 528,297

Net current liabilities  (207,841) (81,102)

Total assets less current liabilities  1,234,762 1,436,964

Non-current liabilities
Deferred	tax	liabilities	 30(b) 34,629 44,009
Other non-current liabilities 27 8,111 8,592
Bank loans 28 – 100,000

  42,740 152,601

NET ASSETS  1,192,022 1,284,363
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At December 31, 2013

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

  2013 2012
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves 29
Share capital  2,011,512 2,011,512
Reserves  (819,490) (727,149)

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company  1,192,022 1,284,363
Non-controlling interests  – –

TOTAL EQUITY  1,192,022 1,284,363

The notes on pages 40 to 81 form part of these financial statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on February 26, 2014.

 

Stephen T H Ng William J H Kwan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Director and Chief Financial Officer
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  2013 2012
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 17 12 12
Amounts due from subsidiaries 18 7,519,267 7,471,321

  7,519,279 7,471,333

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables 20 234 637
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 21 – 421
Bank deposits and cash 22 133,350 196,498

  133,584 197,556

Current liabilities
Accrued	expenses	and	other	payables	 23 1,454 2,595
Amounts due to subsidiaries 24 767,404 784,075
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 25 5,696 4,930

  774,554 791,600

Net current liabilities  (640,970) (594,044)

NET ASSETS  6,878,309 6,877,289

Capital and reserves 29
Share capital  2,011,512 2,011,512
Reserves  4,866,797 4,865,777

TOTAL EQUITY  6,878,309 6,877,289

The notes on pages 40 to 81 form part of these financial statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on February 26, 2014.

 

Stephen T H Ng William J H Kwan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Director and Chief Financial Officer
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 Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
 

    Special  Capital Fair    Non-
  Share Share  capital Exchange  redemption value Revenue Total  controlling  Total
  capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves Total interests equity
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Group
Balance at January 1, 2012*  2,011,512 4,838,365 13,963 3,650 7,722 – (5,312,399) (448,699) 1,562,813 – 1,562,813

Loss for the year  – – – – – – (278,335) (278,335) (278,335) – (278,335)

Other comprehensive income 
 for the year  – – – (115) – – – (115) (115) – (115)

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year  – – – (115) – – (278,335) (278,450) (278,450) – (278,450)

Transfer to special capital 
 reserve 29(c) (ii) – – 4 – – – (4) – – – –

Balance at December 31, 2012*  2,011,512 4,838,365 13,967 3,535 7,722 – (5,590,738) (727,149) 1,284,363 – 1,284,363

Balance at January 1, 2013*  2,011,512 4,838,365 13,967 3,535 7,722 – (5,590,738) (727,149) 1,284,363 – 1,284,363

Loss for the year  – – – – – – (92,910) (92,910) (92,910) – (92,910)

Other comprehensive income 
 for the year  – – – 569 – – – 569 569 – 569

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year  – – – 569 – – (92,910) (92,341) (92,341) – (92,341)

Transfer to special capital 
 reserve 29(c) (ii) – – 14 – – – (14) – – – –

Balance at December 31, 2013*  2,011,512 4,838,365 13,981 4,104 7,722 – (5,683,662) (819,490) 1,192,022 – 1,192,022

* Included in the Group’s revenue reserve is positive goodwill written off against reserves in prior years amounting to HK$197,785,000.

The notes on pages 40 to 81 form part of these financial statements.
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 Reserves
 

   Capital
 Share Share  redemption Revenue  Total  Total
 capital premium reserve reserve reserves Equity
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Company

Balance at January 1, 2012 2,011,512 4,838,365 7,722 396,930 5,243,017 7,254,529

Loss for the year and total 
 comprehensive income for the year – – – (377,240) (377,240) (377,240)

Balance at December 31, 2012 2,011,512 4,838,365 7,722 19,690 4,865,777 6,877,289

Balance at January 1, 2013 2,011,512 4,838,365 7,722 19,690 4,865,777 6,877,289

Profit for the year and total 
 comprehensive income for the year – – – 1,020 1,020 1,020

Balance at December 31, 2013 2,011,512 4,838,365 7,722 20,710 4,866,797 6,878,309

The notes on pages 40 to 81 form part of these financial statements.
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  2013 2012
  HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Loss	before	taxation	 	 (89,996) (272,901)

Adjustments for:
Finance costs, net  2,695 3,605
Interest income  (476) (842)
Depreciation  237,211 252,479
Amortisation of programming library  91,304 93,917
Impairment losses on investment  – 1,083
Impairment losses on programming library  2,733 3,796
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  1,390 1,595
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (61) (5,674)

Operating profit before changes in working capital  244,800 77,058

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (3,669) 4,963
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable from trade debtors  8,816 (1,791)
Decrease in deposits, prepayments and other receivables  4,814 93,514
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  654 (1,675)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to trade creditors  (15,825) 10,661
Increase	in	accrued	expenses	and	other	payables	 	 23,153 655
(Decrease)/increase in receipts in advance and customers’ deposits  (9,134) 1,681
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  3,842 (22,933)
Net change in amount due to immediate holding company  (128) (46)

Cash generated from operations  257,323 162,087

Interest received  241 936
Overseas	tax	paid	 	 (1,595) (964)

Net cash generated from operating activities  255,969 162,059

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (147,232) (214,516)
Additions to programming library  (116,307) (106,299)
Proceeds from disposal of club debenture  – 239
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  1,211 8,492
Placement of bank deposits with maturity greater than three months  (30,000) –

Net cash used in investing activities  (292,328) (312,084)

Financing activities
(Repayment)/drawdown of bank loans  (100,000) 100,000

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities  (100,000) 100,000

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (136,359) (50,025)

Effect of foreign exchange rates changes  100 (47)

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1  288,287 338,359

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31  152,028 288,287

The notes on pages 40 to 81 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)

Note to the Cash Flow Statement

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank deposits and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position (Note 22) 182,028 288,287
Less: Bank deposits with maturity greater than three months (30,000) –

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow statement 152,028 288,287

The notes on pages 40 to 81 form part of these financial statements.
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1. Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable 
disclosure	provisions	of	the	Rules	Governing	the	Listing	of	Securities	on	The	Stock	Exchange	of	Hong	Kong	Limited.	
A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the 
current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2 provides information on any changes in accounting 
policies	resulting	from	initial	application	of	these	developments	to	the	extent	that	they	are	relevant	to	the	Group	for	
the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in an associate.

The	measurement	basis	used	in	the	preparation	of	the	financial	statements	is	the	historical	cost	basis	except	that	
financial instruments classified as available-for-sale (see Note 1(s)) and derivative financial instruments (see Note 1(z)) 
are stated at their fair value.

Although the Group had net current liabilities HK$207,841,000 (2012: HK$81,102,000) as of December 31, 2013, the 
Group had cash of HK$182,028,000 (2012: HK$288,287,000). In addition, a revolving loan facility of HK$100,000,000 
given by a fellow subsidiary was available in January 2014 and will mature at the end of December 2014.

In the opinion of the directors, in light of the above, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its 
operations and remain as a going concern in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is 
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and	expenses.	The	estimates	and	associated	assumptions	are	based	on	historical	experience	and	various	other	
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial 
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 37.

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries	are	entities	controlled	by	the	group.	The	group	controls	an	entity	when	it	is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. When assessing whether the group has power, only substantive rights (held by the group and other parties) 
are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised 
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only 
to	the	extent	that	there	is	no	evidence	of	impairment.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and 
in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which would 
result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of 
a financial liability. For each business combination, the group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, separately 
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the 
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive 
income for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from 
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as financial 
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with Note 1(u) depending on the nature of 
the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within 
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or 
loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, 
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the 
date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition 
of a financial asset (see Note 1(s)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate 
(see Note 1(d)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment 
losses (see Note 1(t)).

(d) Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over 
its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method 
and	is	initially	recorded	at	cost,	adjusted	for	any	excess	of	the	Group’s	share	of	the	acquisition-date	fair	values	of	
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted 
for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating 
to	the	investment	(see	Notes	1(f)	and	(t)).	Any	acquisition-date	excess	over	cost,	the	Group’s	share	of	the	post-
acquisition,	post-tax	results	of	the	investees	and	any	impairment	losses	for	the	year	are	recognised	in	the	consolidated	
statement	of	profit	or	loss,	whereas	the	Group’s	share	of	the	post-acquisition	post-tax	items	of	the	investees’	other	
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When	the	Group’s	share	of	losses	exceeds	its	interest	in	the	associate,	the	Group’s	interest	is	reduced	to	nil	and	
recognition	of	further	losses	is	discontinued	except	to	the	extent	that	the	Group	has	incurred	legal	or	constructive	
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount 
of the investment under the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part 
of the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the 
extent	of	the	Group’s	interest	in	the	investee,	except	where	unrealised	losses	provide	evidence	of	an	impairment	of	
the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Associates (continued)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire 
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that 
former investee at the date when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as 
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 1(s)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in an associate is stated at cost less impairment losses 
(see Note 1(t)).

(e) Joint operations
Joint operations are a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

The Group’s share of joint operations are recognised in the statement of financial position and classified according 
to	their	nature.	Liabilities	and	expenses	incurred	directly	in	respect	of	its	interest	in	joint	operations	are	accounted	for	
on an accrual basis. Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of the joint operation, together 
with	its	share	of	any	expenses	incurred	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	when	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	
associated with the transactions will flow to or from the Group.

(f) Goodwill
Goodwill	represents	the	excess	of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When	(ii)	is	greater	than	(i),	then	this	excess	is	recognised	immediately	in	profit	or	loss	as	a	gain	on	a	bargain	purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is 
allocated	to	each	cash	generating	unit,	or	groups	of	cash	generating	units,	that	 is	expected	to	benefit	from	the	
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 1(t)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the 
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(g) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see Note 1(t)). 
The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials, labour, the initial 
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see Note 1(o)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or 
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost less their estimated residual value, if any, of 
the equipment required to support a fully operating network and cable television system at rates determined by the 
estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 5 to 20 years, adjusted by the appropriate pre-maturity fraction 
during the pre-maturity period, which began with the first earned subscriber revenue on October 31, 1993 and was 
to continue until the earlier of the attainment of a predetermined subscriber level and December 31, 1996. The pre-
maturity period ended on November 30, 1996, when the predetermined subscriber level was attained. Depreciation 
is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the costs, less the estimated residual value, if any, of other assets at 
rates determined by the estimated useful lives ranging from 2 to 40 years.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
The principal annual depreciation rates used are as follows:

Network, decoders, cable modems and
 television production systems 5% to 50%
Furniture,	fixtures,	other	equipment	and	motor	vehicles	 10%	to	33.33%
Buildings situated on leasehold land * Higher of 2.5% or percentage to 
  amortise the asset cost over the 
	 	 unexpired	term	of	land	leases
Leasehold improvements 8.33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated 
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and 
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Under certain circumstances, the Group may have an obligation to dismantle part of its network upon request by 
concerned parties. Owing to the absence of such history, no reliable estimate can be reasonably made in respect of 
such potential obligation.

* This represents units in industrial and commercial buildings which the Directors consider impracticable to split 
the cost into land and buildings.

(h) Leased assets
An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines 
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a 
payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the 
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases.

(ii) Assets acquired under finance leases
Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value of 
the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of such assets are included 
in property, plant and equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as 
obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost or valuation of the 
assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the 
life of the asset, as set out in Note 1(g). Impairment losses are accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy as set out in Note 1(t). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or loss over 
the	period	of	the	leases	so	as	to	produce	an	approximately	constant	periodic	rate	of	charge	on	the	remaining	
balance of the obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the 
accounting period in which they are incurred.

(iii) Operating lease charges
Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the leases are 
charged	to	profit	or	loss	in	equal	instalments	over	the	accounting	periods	covered	by	the	lease	term,	except	
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. 
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments 
made.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Programming costs
(i) Programming library

Programming library consists of presentation rights for commissioned programmes and acquired programmes 
for showing on the Group’s television channels, and commissioned programmes and films for licensing 
purposes.

Presentation rights are stated in the statement of financial position at cost less accumulated amortisation 
(where the estimated useful life is other than indefinite) and impairment losses (see Note 1(t)). Amortisation is 
charged to profit or loss on an accelerated basis over the licence period or over the estimated number of future 
showings.	Subsequent	expenditure	on	programmes	after	initial	acquisition	is	recognised	as	an	expense	when	
incurred.

Commissioned programmes and films for licensing purposes comprise direct production costs and production 
overheads, and are stated at the lower of amortised cost or net realisable value. Costs are amortised on an 
individual programme/film basis in the ratio of the current year’s gross revenues to management’s forecast of 
the total ultimate gross revenues from all sources.

(ii) Live programmes
Live programmes consist of third party feed programmes and are charged to profit or loss upon telecast of 
the programmes. Payments made in advance or in arrears of programme cost recognition are recorded as 
prepayments or accruals, as appropriate.

(iii) In-house developed programmes
In-house developed programmes consist primarily of news, documentary and general entertainment 
programmes with short lead-time from production to telecast. The costs of in-house developed programmes 
are	accordingly	recognised	as	expenses	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.

(iv) Film rights and perpetual film rights
Film rights generated by the Group or perpetual film rights acquired by the Group are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is other than indefinite) and impairment losses 
(see Note 1(t)). Costs represent the carrying value transferred from films in progress upon completion or 
the purchase price of the perpetual film rights, and are amortised at rates calculated to write off the costs in 
proportion	to	the	estimated	revenues	from	exhibition,	the	reproduction	and	distribution	of	audio	visual	products,	
the licensing of video rights and other broadcast rights following their release. Such rates are subject to annual 
review by the Directors.

(v) Films in progress
Films in progress are stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 1(t)). Costs include all direct costs 
associated	with	the	production	of	films.	Impairment	losses	are	made	for	costs	which	are	in	excess	of	the	
expected	future	revenue	generated	by	these	films.	Costs	of	films	are	transferred	to	film	rights	upon	completion.

(j) Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives 
are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite 
life is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the 
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

(i) Club debentures
The Group’s club debentures are stated in the statement of financial position at cost less impairment losses (see 
Note 1(t)), on an individual basis.



45i-CABLE Communications Limited   Annual Report 2013

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated on the weighted average basis 
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present	location	and	condition.	Net	realisable	value	is	determined	by	the	Group	based	on	the	expected	replacement	
cost of the inventories net of provision for obsolescence.

(l) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the 
effective	 interest	method,	 less	allowance	for	 impairment	of	doubtful	debts	 (see	Note	1(t)),	except	where	the	
receivables	are	 interest-free	 loans	made	to	related	parties	without	any	fixed	repayment	terms	or	the	effect	of	
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of 
doubtful debts.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at 
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management 
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow 
statement.

(n) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised in profit or 
loss provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, 
can be measured reliably as follows:

(i) Income from the provision of subscription Television services, Internet access services, and Voice Over Internet 
Protocol telephony services is recognised at the time when the services are provided.

(ii)	 Installation	fees	are	recognised	upon	completion	of	the	related	installation	work	to	the	extent	of	direct	selling	
costs.

(iii) Where packaged service fees comprise a number of elements and the fees can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis into elements of subscription service and installation service, revenue is recognised in accordance with 
the accounting policies set out in Notes 1(n)(i) and (ii). Where packaged service fees cannot be allocated into 
individual elements, the fees are deferred and recognised evenly over the term of the service period.

(iv) Advertising income net of agency deductions is recognised on telecast of the advertisement. When an 
advertising contract covers a specified period, the related income is recognised evenly over the contract period.

(v)	 Revenue	from	theatrical	distribution	is	recognised	when	the	films	are	exhibited.

(vi) Revenue from distribution of films is recognised upon delivery of the master tapes to the customers.

(vii) Income from licensing of TV rights is recognised in full upon delivery of the programmes concerned in 
accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	licence	contracts	and	is	stated	net	of	withholding	tax.

(viii) Magazine advertising income is recognised upon the publication of the edition in which the advertisement is 
placed.

(ix)	 Sales	of	magazines	are	recognised	when	the	magazines	are	delivered	and	the	title	has	passed.

(x)	 Income	from	network	maintenance	and	operation	is	recognised	at	the	time	when	services	are	provided.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Revenue recognition (continued)
(xi)	 Rental	income	receivable	under	operating	leases	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	equal	installments	over	the	

periods	covered	by	the	lease	term,	except	where	an	alternative	basis	is	more	representative	of	the	pattern	of	
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss 
as integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivables. Contingent rentals are recognised as income 
in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(xii)	 Dividend	income	from	investments	in	equity	securities	is	recognised	when	the	shareholder’s	right	to	receive	
payment is established.

(xiii)	 Interest	income	is	recognised	as	it	accrues	using	the	effective	interest	method.

(o) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the 
cost	of	that	asset.	Other	borrowing	costs	are	expensed	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.

The	capitalisation	of	borrowing	costs	as	part	of	the	cost	of	a	qualifying	asset	commences	when	expenditure	for	the	
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for 
its intended use are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the 
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use are interrupted or complete.

(p) Income tax
Income	tax	for	the	year	comprises	current	tax	and	movements	in	deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities.	Current	tax	and	
movements	in	deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	except	to	the	extent	that	they	relate	to	
items	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	or	directly	in	equity,	in	which	case	the	relevant	amounts	of	tax	are	
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current	tax	is	the	expected	tax	payable	on	the	taxable	income	for	the	year,	using	tax	rates	enacted	or	substantially	
enacted	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period,	and	any	adjustment	to	tax	payable	in	respect	of	previous	years.

Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	arise	from	deductible	and	taxable	temporary	differences	respectively,	being	the	
differences	between	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	for	financial	reporting	purposes	and	their	tax	bases.	
Deferred	tax	assets	also	arise	from	unused	tax	losses	and	unused	tax	credits.

Apart	from	certain	limited	exceptions,	all	deferred	tax	liabilities,	and	all	deferred	tax	assets	to	the	extent	that	it	 is	
probable	that	future	taxable	profits	will	be	available	against	which	the	asset	can	be	utilised,	are	recognised.	Future	
taxable	profits	that	may	support	the	recognition	of	deferred	tax	assets	arising	from	deductible	temporary	differences	
include	those	that	will	arise	from	the	reversal	of	existing	taxable	temporary	differences,	provided	those	differences	
relate	to	the	same	taxation	authority	and	the	same	taxable	entity,	and	are	expected	to	reverse	either	in	the	same	
period	as	the	expected	reversal	of	the	deductible	temporary	difference	or	in	periods	into	which	a	tax	loss	arising	from	
the	deferred	tax	asset	can	be	carried	back	or	forward.	The	same	criteria	are	adopted	when	determining	whether	
existing	taxable	temporary	differences	support	the	recognition	of	deferred	tax	assets	arising	from	unused	tax	losses	
and	credits,	that	is,	those	differences	are	taken	into	account	if	they	relate	to	the	same	taxation	authority	and	the	same	
taxable	entity,	and	are	expected	to	reverse	in	a	period,	or	periods,	in	which	the	tax	loss	or	credit	can	be	utilised.

The	limited	exceptions	to	recognition	of	deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	those	temporary	differences	arising	from	
goodwill	not	deductible	for	tax	purposes,	the	initial	recognition	of	assets	or	liabilities	that	affect	neither	accounting	
nor	taxable	profit	 (provided	they	are	not	part	of	a	business	combination),	and	temporary	differences	relating	to	
investments	in	subsidiaries	to	the	extent	that,	in	the	case	of	taxable	differences,	the	Group	controls	the	timing	of	the	
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible 
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(p) Income tax (continued)
The	amount	of	deferred	tax	recognised	is	measured	based	on	the	expected	manner	of	realisation	or	settlement	of	
the	carrying	amount	of	the	assets	and	liabilities,	using	tax	rates	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	the	end	of	the	
reporting	period.	Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	not	discounted.

The	carrying	amount	of	a	deferred	tax	asset	is	reviewed	at	the	end	of	each	reporting	period	and	is	reduced	to	the	
extent	that	it	is	no	longer	probable	that	sufficient	taxable	profits	will	be	available	to	allow	the	related	tax	benefit	to	be	
utilised.	Any	such	reduction	is	reversed	to	the	extent	that	it	becomes	probable	that	sufficient	taxable	profits	will	be	
available.

Additional	 income	taxes	that	arise	from	the	distribution	of	dividends	are	recognised	when	the	liability	to	pay	the	
related dividends is recognised.

Current	tax	balances	and	deferred	tax	balances,	and	movements	therein,	are	presented	separately	from	each	other	
and	are	not	offset.	Current	tax	assets	are	offset	against	current	tax	liabilities,	and	deferred	tax	assets	against	deferred	
tax	liabilities,	if	the	Company	or	the	Group	has	the	legally	enforceable	right	to	set	off	current	tax	assets	against	current	
tax	liabilities	and	the	following	additional	conditions	are	met:

–	 in	the	case	of	current	tax	assets	and	liabilities,	the	Company	or	the	Group	intends	either	to	settle	on	a	net	basis,	
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

–	 in	the	case	of	deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities,	 if	they	relate	to	income	taxes	levied	by	the	same	taxation	
authority on either:

–	 the	same	taxable	entity;	or

–	 different	taxable	entities,	which,	 in	each	future	period	 in	which	significant	amounts	of	deferred	tax	
liabilities	or	assets	are	expected	to	be	settled	or	recovered,	intend	to	realise	the	current	tax	assets	and	
settle	the	current	tax	liabilities	on	a	net	basis	or	realise	and	settle	simultaneously.

(q) Foreign currency translation
Foreign	currency	transactions	during	the	year	are	translated	at	the	foreign	exchange	rates	ruling	at	the	transaction	
dates.	Monetary	assets	and	liabilities	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	are	translated	at	the	foreign	exchange	rates	
ruling	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.	Exchange	gains	and	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using	the	foreign	exchange	rates	ruling	at	the	transaction	dates.	Non-monetary	assets	and	liabilities	denominated	in	
foreign	currencies	that	are	stated	at	fair	value	are	translated	using	the	foreign	exchange	rates	ruling	at	the	dates	the	
fair value was determined.

The	results	of	foreign	operations	are	translated	into	Hong	Kong	dollars	at	the	exchange	rates	approximating	the	
foreign	exchange	rates	ruling	at	the	dates	of	the	transactions.	Statement	of	financial	position	items,	including	goodwill	
arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after January 1, 2005, are translated into Hong Kong 
dollars	at	the	closing	foreign	exchange	rates	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.	The	resulting	exchange	differences	are	
recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	and	accumulated	separately	in	equity	in	the	exchange	reserve.	Goodwill	
arising	on	consolidation	of	a	foreign	operation	acquired	before	January	1,	2005	is	translated	at	the	foreign	exchange	
rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On	disposal	of	a	foreign	operation,	the	cumulative	amount	of	the	exchange	differences	relating	to	that	foreign	
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and 
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member 
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third parties.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close	members	of	the	family	of	a	person	are	those	family	members	who	may	be	expected	to	 influence,	or	be	
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(s) Investments in equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is determined 
that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and that fair value is evidenced by a quoted 
price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from 
observable	markets.	Cost	includes	attributable	transaction	costs,	except	where	indicated	otherwise	below.	These	
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows:

Other investments in securities are classified as available-for-sale securities. At the end of each reporting period 
the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated	separately	in	equity	in	the	fair	value	reserve.	As	an	exception	to	this,	investments	in	equity	securities	
that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise 
be reliably measured are recognised in the statement of financial position at cost less impairment losses (see note 
1(t)). Dividend income from equity securities and interest income from debt securities calculated using the effective 
interest	method	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	accordance	with	the	policies	set	out	in	notes	1(n)(xii)	and	1(n)(xiii),	
respectively.	Foreign	exchange	gains	are	also	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired (see note 1(t)), the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity 
is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group and/or the Company 
commits	to	purchase/sell	the	investments	or	they	expire.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(t) Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities and other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other current and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or 
amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes 
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse 
effect on the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its cost.

If	any	such	evidence	exists,	any	impairment	loss	is	determined	and	recognised	as	follows:

– For investments in associates (including those recognised using the equity method (see Note 1(d))), the 
impairment loss is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying 
amount in accordance with Note 1(t)(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in accordance with Note 1(t)(ii).

– For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current 
market rate of return for a similar financial asset where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment 
losses for equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.

– For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate 
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of 
discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively where these financial assets share similar 
risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed as impaired. 
Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are based on 
historical	loss	experience	for	assets	with	credit	risk	characteristics	similar	to	the	collective	group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying 
amount	exceeding	that	which	would	have	been	determined	had	no	impairment	loss	been	recognised	in	
prior years.

– For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that has been recognised in the fair value reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss is the 
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity securities are not 
reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets is recognised in 
other comprehensive income.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(t) Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities and other receivables (continued)

Impairment	losses	are	written	off	against	the	corresponding	assets	directly,	except	for	 impairment	losses	
recognised in respect of trade debtors included within trade and other receivables, whose recovery is 
considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an 
allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable 
is written off against trade debtors directly and any amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt 
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed 
against the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of other assets
Internal	and	external	sources	of	 information	are	reviewed	at	the	end	of	each	reporting	period	to	 identify	
indications	that	the	following	assets	may	be	impaired	or,	except	in	the	case	of	goodwill,	an	impairment	loss	
previously	recognised	no	longer	exists	or	may	have	decreased:

– property, plant and equipment (other than properties carried at revalued amounts);
– programming library (including film rights, perpetual film rights and films in progress);
– other intangible assets;
– goodwill; and
– Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the company’s statement of financial position.

If	any	such	indication	exists,	the	asset’s	recoverable	amount	is	estimated.	In	addition,	for	goodwill,	intangible	
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable 
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax	discount	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from 
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating 
unit	to	which	it	belongs,	exceeds	its	recoverable	amount.	Impairment	losses	recognised	in	respect	of	
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the 
unit	(or	group	of	units)	on	a	pro	rata	basis,	except	that	the	carrying	value	of	an	asset	will	not	be	reduced	
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

– Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of 
goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are 
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(t) Impairment of assets (continued)
(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under	the	Rules	Governing	the	Listing	of	Securities	on	The	Stock	Exchange	of	Hong	Kong	Limited,	the	Group	
is required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in 
respect	of	the	first	six	months	of	the	financial	year.	At	the	end	of	the	interim	period,	the	Group	applies	the	same	
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see Notes 1(t)(i) 
and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity securities and 
unquoted equity securities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no 
loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end of the 
financial year to which the interim period relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an available-for-sale equity 
security increases in the remainder of the annual period, or in any other period subsequently, the increase is 
recognised in other comprehensive income and not profit or loss.

(u) Trade and other payables
Trade	and	other	payables	are	initially	recognised	at	fair	value.	Except	for	financial	guarantee	liabilities	measured	in	
accordance	with	Note	1(x)(i),	trade	and	other	payables	are	subsequently	stated	at	amortised	cost	unless	the	effect	of	
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(v) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially 
recognised and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with 
any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

(w) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are identified from 
the	financial	information	provided	regularly	to	the	Group’s	most	senior	executive	management	for	the	purposes	of	
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical 
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of 
production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the 
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may 
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

(x) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities
(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to 
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor 
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred 
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the 
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that category of 
asset.	Where	no	such	consideration	is	received	or	receivable,	an	immediate	expense	is	recognised	in	profit	or	
loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over the 
term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are recognised in 
accordance	with	Note	1(x)(iii)	if	and	when	(i)	it	becomes	probable	that	the	holder	of	the	guarantee	will	call	upon	
the	Group	under	the	guarantee,	and	(ii)	the	amount	of	that	claim	on	the	Group	is	expected	to	exceed	the	amount	
currently carried in trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less 
accumulated amortisation.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(x) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
(ii) Contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination which are present obligations at the date of acquisition 
are initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value can be reliably measured. After their initial recognition 
at fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of the amount initially recognised, less 
accumulated amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that would be determined in accordance with 
Note	1(x)(iii).	Contingent	liabilities	assumed	in	a	business	combination	that	cannot	be	reliably	fair	valued	or	were	
not	present	obligations	at	the	date	of	acquisition	are	disclosed	in	accordance	with	Note	1(x)(iii).

(iii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the Company has 
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of 
money	is	material,	provisions	are	stated	at	the	present	value	of	the	expenditure	expected	to	settle	the	obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 
economic	benefits	is	remote.	Possible	obligations,	whose	existence	will	only	be	confirmed	by	the	occurrence	or	
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of 
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(y) Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans.

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group, 
except	to	the	extent	that	they	are	included	in	the	cost	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	programming	library	not	
yet	recognised	as	an	expense.

(z) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is 
remeasured.	The	gain	or	loss	on	remeasurement	to	fair	value	is	recognised	immediately	in	profit	or	loss,	except	where	
the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting or hedge the net investment in a foreign operation, in which 
case recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see Note 1(aa)).

(aa) Hedging
(i) Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised 
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk of a committed future 
transaction, the effective portion of any gains or losses on remeasurement of the derivative financial instrument 
to fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the hedging 
reserve. The ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to be included in the initial cost or other 
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial 
liability, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the same period or periods 
during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (such as when interest income or 
expense	is	recognised).

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated gain or 
loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast 
transaction affects profit or loss.
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(aa) Hedging (continued)
(i) Cash flow hedges (continued)

When	a	hedging	instrument	expires	or	is	sold,	terminated	or	exercised,	or	the	entity	revokes	designation	of	the	
hedge	relationship	but	the	hedged	forecast	transaction	is	still	expected	to	occur,	the	cumulative	gain	or	loss	
at that point remains in equity until the transaction occurs and it is recognised in accordance with the above 
policy.	If	the	hedged	transaction	is	no	longer	expected	to	take	place,	the	cumulative	unrealised	gain	or	loss	is	
reclassified from equity to profit or loss immediately.

(ii) Hedge of net investments in foreign operations
The portion of the gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value of an instrument used to hedge a net investment 
in a foreign operation that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and	accumulated	separately	in	equity	in	the	exchange	reserve	until	the	disposal	of	the	foreign	operation,	at	
which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. The ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2. Changes in accounting policies
HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current 
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of these, the following developments are relevant to the Group’s 
financial statements:

– Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements – Presentation of items of other comprehensive income
– HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statement
– HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements
– HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interest in other entities
– HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement
– Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle
– Amendments to HKFRS 7 – Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements – Presentation of items of other comprehensive 
income
The amendments require entities to present separately the items of other comprehensive income that would be reclassified 
to profit or loss in the future if certain conditions are met from those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss. The 
presentation of other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income in these financial statements has been modified accordingly. 

In addition, the group has chosen to use the new titles “statement of profit or loss” and “statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income” as introduced by the amendments in these financial statements.

HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements
HKFRS 10 replaces the requirements in HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial statements relating to the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements and HK-SIC 12 Consolidation – Special purpose entities. It introduces a single control 
model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated, by focusing on whether the entity has power over the 
investee,	exposure	or	rights	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee	and	the	ability	to	use	its	power	to	
affect the amount of those returns.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 10, the group has changed its accounting policy with respect to determining whether it 
has control over an investee. The adoption does not change any of the control conclusions reached by the group in respect 
of its involvement with other entities as at January 1, 2013.
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2. Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements
HKFRS 11, which replaces HKAS 31, Interests in joint ventures, divides joint arrangements into joint operations and joint 
ventures. Entities are required to determine the type of an arrangement by considering the structure, legal form, contractual 
terms and other facts and circumstances relevant to their rights and obligations under the arrangement. Joint arrangements 
which	are	classified	as	joint	operations	under	HKFRS	11	are	recognised	on	a	line-by-line	basis	to	the	extent	of	the	joint	
operator’s interest in the joint operation. All other joint arrangements are classified as joint ventures under HKFRS 11 and 
are required to be accounted for using the equity method in the group’s consolidated financial statements. Proportionate 
consolidation is no longer allowed as an accounting policy choice. 

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 11, the group has changed its accounting policy with respect to its interests in joint 
arrangements and re-evaluated its involvement in its joint arrangements.

HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities
HKFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements relevant to an entity’s interests in 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. The disclosures required by HKFRS 
12	are	generally	more	extensive	than	those	previously	required	by	the	respective	standards.	To	the	extent	that	the	
requirements are applicable to the group, the group has provided those disclosures in the annual report.

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement
HKFRS	13	replaces	existing	guidance	in	 individual	HKFRSs	with	a	single	source	of	fair	value	measurement	guidance.	
HKFRS	13	also	contains	extensive	disclosure	requirements	about	fair	value	measurements	for	both	financial	instruments	
and	non-financial	instruments.	To	the	extent	that	the	requirements	are	applicable	to	the	group,	the	group	has	provided	those	
disclosures in the annual report.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle
This cycle of annual improvements contains amendments to five standards with consequential amendments to other 
standards and interpretations. The adoption of these amendments does not have significant impact on the financial 
statement of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 – Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The amendments introduce new disclosures in respect of offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. Those new 
disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32, Financial 
instruments: Presentation and those that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement 
that covers similar financial instruments and transactions, irrespective of whether the financial instruments are set off in 
accordance with HKAS 32. 

The adoption of the amendments does not have an impact on these financial statements because the group has not offset 
financial instruments, nor has it entered into master netting arrangement or similar agreement which is subject to the 
disclosures of HKFRS 7 during the periods presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

3. Turnover
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 
to the financial statements.

Turnover comprises principally subscription, service and related fees for Television and Internet (including Telephony) 
services. It also includes advertising income net of agency deductions, channel service and distribution fees, programme 
licensing	income,	film	exhibition	and	distribution	income,	network	maintenance	income	and	other	related	income.

The	Group’s	customer	base	is	diversified	and	no	single	customer	with	whom	transactions	have	exceeded	10%	of	the	
Group’s revenues. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk from customers.
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4. Segment information
The Group managed its businesses according to the nature of services provided. Management has determined two 
reportable operating segments for measuring performance and allocating resources. The segments are Television and 
Internet and Multimedia.

The Television segment includes operations related to the Television subscription business, advertising, channel carriage, 
Television relay service, programme licensing, network maintenance, and miscellaneous Television related businesses.

The Internet and Multimedia segment includes operations related to Broadband Internet access services, portal operation, 
mobile content licensing, Voice Over Internet Protocol telephony services as well as other Internet access related 
businesses.

Management	evaluates	performance	primarily	based	on	earnings	before	interest,	taxation,	depreciation	and	amortisation	
(“EBITDA”)	and	earnings	before	interest	and	taxation	(“EBIT”).	Management	defines	EBITDA	to	mean	earnings	before	
interest	income,	finance	costs,	impairment	losses	on	investment,	non-operating	income/expenses,	provision	for	income	
tax,	depreciation	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	but	after	amortisation	of	programming	rights.

Inter-segment pricing is generally determined at arm’s length basis.

Segment	assets	principally	comprise	all	tangible	assets,	intangible	assets	and	current	assets	with	the	exception	of	interest	
in	associate,	investments	in	equity	securities	and	deferred	tax	assets.	Segment	liabilities	include	all	liabilities	and	borrowings	
directly	attributable	to	and	managed	by	each	segment	with	the	exception	of	current	taxation	and	deferred	tax	liabilities.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning EBITDA and EBIT, management is provided with segment 
information concerning revenue (including inter-segment revenue).

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s Senior Management for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is set out 
below:

Business segments

 Television Internet and Multimedia Unallocated Total

 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue	from	external	customers	 1,525,595 1,742,433 347,856 338,102 58,303 46,669 1,931,754 2,127,204
Inter-segment revenue 20,720 14,537 248 386 9,309 6,441 30,277 21,364

Reportable segment revenue 1,546,315 1,756,970 348,104 338,488 67,612 53,110 1,962,031 2,148,568

Reportable segment results 
 (“EBITDA”) 124,975 (29,998) 125,145 117,624 (98,641) (108,545) 151,479 (20,919)

Reportable segment results
 (“EBIT”) (14,303) (184,199) 33,471 25,918 (104,900) (115,117) (85,732) (273,398)

Inter-segment elimination       (2,106) (1,331)

Loss from operations       (87,838) (274,729)
Interest income       476 842
Finance costs, net       (2,695) (3,605)
Impairment losses on investment       – (1,083)
Non-operating income       61 5,674
Income	tax	       (2,914) (5,434)

Loss for the year       (92,910) (278,335)
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4. Segment information (continued)

A	reconciliation	of	reportable	segment	EBITDA	to	loss	before	taxation	is	provided	as	follows:

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total segment EBITDA 151,479 (20,919)
Depreciation (237,211) (252,479)

Total segment EBIT (85,732) (273,398)
Inter-segment elimination (2,106) (1,331)
Interest income 476 842
Finance costs, net (2,695) (3,605)
Impairment losses on investment – (1,083)
Non-operating income 61 5,674

Loss	before	taxation	 (89,996) (272,901)

 Segment assets
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Television 836,903 909,453
Internet and Multimedia 379,579 432,322
Unallocated assets 245,978 300,935

 1,462,460 1,642,710
Interest in associate – –
Deferred	tax	assets	 311,373 322,551

 1,773,833 1,965,261

 Segment liabilities
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Television 362,700 440,753
Internet and Multimedia 93,297 111,808
Unallocated liabilities 90,953 83,632

 546,950 636,193
Current	taxation	 232 696
Deferred	tax	liabilities	 34,629 44,009

 581,811 680,898

Geographical segments
No geographical segment information is shown as, during the periods presented, less than 10% of the Group’s segment 
revenue, segment results and segment assets are derived from activities conducted outside Hong Kong.
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5. Loss before taxation
Loss	before	taxation	is	stated	after	charging/(crediting):

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income
Interest income from deposits with banks and other financial institutions (476) (804)
Other interest income – (38)

 (476) (842)

Finance costs, net
Net	loss	on	forward	exchange	contract	 – 9
Interest	expenses	on	bank	loan	 2,695 3,596

 2,695 3,605

Other items
Depreciation
 – assets held for use under operating leases 33,993 39,919
 – other assets 203,218 212,560
Amortisation of programming library* 91,304 93,917
Impairment losses
 – trade and other receivables 6,219 5,136
 – property, plant and equipment 1,390 1,595
 – programming library 2,733 3,796
 – investments in equity securities – 1,083
Reversal of impairment losses on trade and other receivables (764) (1,057)
Cost of inventories 17,311 19,053
Rentals payable under operating leases in respect of land and buildings 60,770 61,287
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 34,060 34,041
Auditor’s remuneration – audit service
 – charge for the year 2,942 2,852
 – under-provision in respect of prior years 99 186
Net	foreign	exchange	gain	**	 (519) (3,101)
Rentals receivable under operating leases in respect of
 – subleased land and buildings (8,439) (8,237)
 – owned plant and machinery (11,191) (13,110)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (61) (5,674)

* Amortisation of programming library is included within programming costs in the consolidated results of the Group.

** Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain of approximately HK$(25,000) and HK$543,000 are included within programming costs and selling, general and 
administrative and other operating expenses in the consolidated results of the Group, respectively.
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5. Loss before taxation (continued)

Operating	expenses	are	analysed	by	nature	in	compliance	with	HKAS	1,	Presentation of Financial statements as follows:

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation and amortisation 328,515 346,396
Staff costs 684,094 687,591
Other	operating	expenses	 1,006,983 1,367,946

Total operating costs 2,019,592 2,401,933

6. Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax – Overseas
Tax	for	the	year	 1,116 1,643

Deferred tax
Utilisation	of	prior	years’	tax	losses	recognised	 29,667 24,805
Benefit	of	previously	unrecognised	tax	losses	now	recognised	 (18,818) (15,981)
Reversal of temporary differences (9,051) (5,033)

 1,798 3,791

Income	tax	 2,914 5,434

The	provision	for	Hong	Kong	Profits	Tax	is	calculated	at	16.5%	(2012:	16.5%)	of	the	estimated	assessable	profits	for	
the	year.	Taxation	for	overseas	subsidiaries	is	charged	at	the	appropriate	current	rates	of	taxation	ruling	in	the	relevant	
countries.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

 2013 2012
 % %

Statutory	income	tax	rate	 (16.5) (16.5)
Tax	effect	of	non-deductible	expenses	 12.6 15.8
Tax	effect	of	non-taxable	revenue	 (0.3) (0.3)
Tax	effect	of	unused	tax	losses	not	recognised	 28.1 8.6
Tax	effect	of	previously	tax	losses	now	recognised	 (20.9) (5.9)
Differential	tax	rate	on	subsidiaries’	income	 0.2 0.2

Effective	income	tax	rate	 3.2 1.9
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7. Directors’ emoluments
Details of Directors’ emoluments are as follows:

  Basic 
  salaries,   Discretionary 
  housing  bonuses 
  and other   and/or 
  allowances,  Retirement  performance
 Directors’  and benefits  scheme  related  Total 
Name of directors fees in kind contributions bonuses emoluments
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2013
Independent	Non-executive	Directors:
 T K Ho 80 – – – 80
 Roger K H Luk 80 – – – 80
 Patrick Y W Wu 80 – – – 80
 Herman S M Hu 60 – – – 60
Non-executive	Director:
 Paul Y C Tsui 60 – – – 60
Executive	Directors:
 Stephen T H Ng 60 1,800 5 3,000 4,865
 William J H Kwan 60 1,993 199 1,030 3,282

Total for 2013 480 3,793 204 4,030 8,507

2012
Independent	Non-executive	Directors:
 T K Ho 80 – – – 80
 Roger K H Luk 72 – – – 72
 Anthony K K Yeung 33 – – – 33
 Patrick Y W Wu 80 – – – 80
 Herman S M Hu 45 – – – 45
Non-executive	Director:
 Paul Y C Tsui 60 – – – 60
Executive	Directors:
 Stephen T H Ng 60 2,004 77 4,000 6,141
 William J H Kwan 60 1,909 191 970 3,130

Total for 2012 490 3,913 268 4,970 9,641

There was no compensation for loss of office and/or inducement for joining the Group paid/payable to the Company’s 
Directors in respect of the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Except	for	Directors’	fees	of	HK$480,000	(2012:	HK$490,000),	certain	Directors’	emoluments	disclosed	above	were	paid	
directly by the Company’s intermediate holding company, The Wharf (Holdings) Limited (“Wharf”), (or its wholly owned 
subsidiaries) to the relevant Directors. Wharf recovered such costs from the Group by charging a management fee (see 
Note 36(iv)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8. Individuals with highest emoluments and emoluments of Senior Management
(a) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2012: two) are Directors whose emoluments are disclosed 
in Note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2012: three) individuals are as follows:

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, housing and other allowances,
 and benefits in kind 5,807 5,610
Retirement scheme contributions 355 505
Discretionary bonuses and/or performance related bonuses 1,770 2,835
Compensation for loss of office – –
Inducement for joining the Group – –

 7,932 8,950

The emoluments of the three (2012: three) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

 2013 2012
 Number of Number of
HK$ individuals individuals

2,000,001 – 2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001 – 3,000,000 1 –
3,000,001 – 3,500,000 1 2

 3 3

(b) Emoluments of Senior Management
Of the seven (2012: eight) senior managers’ emoluments, two (2012: two) are Directors whose emoluments are 
disclosed	in	Note	7.	The	aggregate	of	the	emoluments	in	respect	of	the	other	five	(2012:	six)	senior	managers	are	as	
follows:

 2013 2012
 Number of Number of
 senior  senior 
HK$ managers managers

Below 1,000,000 – 1
1,000,001 – 1,500,000 – 2
1,500,001 – 2,000,000 2 –
2,000,001 – 2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001 – 3,000,000 1 –
3,000,001 – 3,500,000 1 2

 5 6
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9. Gain/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
The consolidated gain/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a gain of HK$1,020,000 (2012: loss 
HK$377,240,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amount of consolidated gain/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders dealt 
 with in the Company’s financial statements 1,020 (377,240)

Company’s gain/(loss) for the year 1,020 (377,240)

10. Other comprehensive income
Reclassification adjustment relating to components of other comprehensive income

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Exchange	reserve:
Exchange	difference	on	translation	of	foreign	subsidiaries’	financial	statements	 569 (115)

Net	movement	in	the	exchange	reserve	during	the	year	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	 569 (115)

11. Loss per share
(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the 
Company of HK$92,910,000 (2012: HK$278,335,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year of 2,011,512,400 (2012: 2,011,512,400).

(b) Diluted loss per share
The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the 
Company of HK$92,910,000 (2012: HK$278,335,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 
2,011,512,400 (2012: 2,011,512,400) after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

12. Property, plant and equipment
 Group
 

 Network,  Furniture,  Leasehold land and buildings
 decoders,  fixtures,  in Hong Kong and PRC
   

 cable modems  other    
 and television  equipment 
 production  and motor  Long Medium Short  Leasehold 
 systems vehicles  leases leases leases improvements Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At January 1, 2012 5,560,930 677,036 11,425 46,713 70 327,046 6,623,220
Additions 182,745 19,766 – – – 6,668 209,179
Disposals (183,613) (10,675) (3,306) – (70) (1,402) (199,066)
Reclassification to inventories (4,059) – – – – – (4,059)
Exchange	reserve	 –	 (57)	 –	 (78)	 –	 (22)	 (157)

At December 31, 2012 5,556,003 686,070 8,119 46,635 – 332,290 6,629,117

At January 1, 2013 5,556,003 686,070 8,119 46,635 – 332,290 6,629,117
Additions 134,549 12,541 – – – 2,389 149,479
Disposals (84,745) (52,398) – – – (233) (137,376)
Reclassification to inventories (754) – – – – – (754)
Exchange	reserve	 –	 518	 –	 830	 –	 235	 1,583

At December 31, 2013 5,605,053 646,731 8,119 47,465 – 334,681 6,642,049

Accumulated depreciation

At January 1, 2012 4,629,581 625,203 2,940 7,958 70 282,662 5,548,414
Charge for the year 217,873 22,846 242 1,568 – 9,950 252,479
Impairment loss 1,595 – – – – – 1,595
Written back on disposals (182,537) (10,656) (1,793) – (70) (1,192) (196,248)
Reclassification to inventories (1,274) – – – – – (1,274)
Exchange	reserve	 –	 (41)	 –	 (20)	 –	 (11)	 (72)

At December 31, 2012 4,665,238 637,352 1,389 9,506 – 291,409 5,604,894

At January 1, 2013 4,665,238 637,352 1,389 9,506 – 291,409 5,604,894
Charge for the year 204,413 20,680 203 1,583 – 10,332 237,211
Impairment loss 1,390 – – – – – 1,390
Written back on disposals (83,769) (52,357) – – – (99) (136,225)
Reclassification to inventories (301) – – – – – (301)
Exchange	reserve	 –	 458	 –	 198	 –	 114	 770

At December 31, 2013 4,786,971 606,133 1,592 11,287 – 301,756 5,707,739

Net book value

At December 31, 2013 818,082 40,598 6,527 36,178 – 32,925 934,310

At December 31, 2012 890,765 48,718 6,730 37,129 – 40,881 1,024,223



63i-CABLE Communications Limited   Annual Report 2013

12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Impairment loss results from loss recognised on abandonment of lost or damaged property, plant and equipment. In 2013, 
of the total impairment loss of HK$1,390,000 (2012: HK$1,595,000) was made for decoders and cable modems which had 
become obsolete during normal usage or were leased to subscribers in the ordinary course of the Television Subscription 
and Broadband Internet access business, and had not been returned after the services were terminated.

The	estimated	useful	lives	of	certain	Standard-definition	(“SD”)	set-top-boxes	are	affected	by	the	fastest	growing	High-
definition (“HD”) technology and services. During the year of 2012, the Group revised the estimated useful lives of 
undeployed	SD	set-top-boxes	which	reflected	the	Group’s	best	estimates	of	the	remaining	useful	life	of	the	SD	set-top-
boxes	as	at	December	31,	2012.	The	change	in	useful	lives	has	increased	the	depreciation	charge	for	2012	by	approximately	
HK$12,286,000	and	decreased	the	depreciation	charge	for	 the	year	ended	December	31,	2013	by	approximately	
HK$3,577,000.

These	change	in	estimates	does	not	have	any	effect	on	the	total	depreciation	expenses	of	those	SD	set-top-boxes	during	
the	SD	set-top-boxes’	lives	as	the	effect	of	such	change	represents	a	timing	difference.

As at December 31, 2013, the gross carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment of the Group held for use 
in operating leases were HK$272,517,000 (2012: HK$263,053,000) and the related accumulated depreciation was 
HK$160,081,000 (2012: HK$134,998,000).

13. Programming library
 Group
 

 Internally 
 developed Acquired Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At January 1, 2012 69,977 457,814 527,791
Additions – 99,842 99,842
Written off – (79,620) (79,620)

At December 31, 2012 69,977 478,036 548,013

At January 1, 2013 69,977 478,036 548,013
Additions – 122,557 122,557
Written off – (74,905) (74,905)

At December 31, 2013 69,977 525,688 595,665

Accumulated amortisation

At January 1, 2012 69,977 350,998 420,975
Charge for the year – 93,917 93,917
Impairment loss – 3,796 3,796
Written off – (79,620) (79,620)

At December 31, 2012 69,977 369,091 439,068

At January 1, 2013 69,977 369,091 439,068
Charge for the year – 91,304 91,304
Impairment loss – 2,733 2,733
Written off – (74,905) (74,905)

At December 31, 2013 69,977 388,223 458,200

Net book value

At December 31, 2013 – 137,465 137,465

At December 31, 2012 – 108,945 108,945

The management of the Group undertook a review of its programming library to assess the recoverability of film rights. As a 
result of the assessment, an impairment loss of HK$2,733,000 (2012: HK$3,796,000) was made.
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14. Other intangible assets
 Group
 

 Club
 Debentures
 HK$’000

Cost less impairment losses
At January 1, 2012 4,006
Disposal (239)

At December 31, 2012 3,767

At January 1, 2013 and December 31, 2013 3,767

15. Interest in associate
 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets – –

Details of the Group’s interest in associate are as follows:

 Form of  Place of   Particulars of issued  Proportion of 
Name of associate business structure incorporation/operation Principal activities and paid up capital ownership interest

FRM Film InvestCo LLC Incorporated State of Delaware, USA Investment holding Capital contribution US$25,000,000 30%

In respect of the year ended December 31, 2013, the Group has not taken into account the effect of transactions or events 
of	the	associate	as	the	associate	was	inactive	during	the	current	year.	Since	the	Group’s	share	of	losses	exceeds	its	interest	
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to HK$Nil (2012: HK$Nil) and no recognition of future losses as the Group 
has no legal or constructive obligation in respect of such losses.

16. Other non-current assets
 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 43,012 41,856
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 12,676 12,910
Other assets – 3,814

 55,688 58,580
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17. Investments in subsidiaries
 Company
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 12 12

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the 
Group.

 Place of   Particulars of  Proportion of 
 incorporation/  issued capital,  ownership interest
Name of company operation Principal activities all fully paid Directly Indirectly

Apex	Victory	Limited	 British	Virgin	Islands	 Programme	licensing	 500	ordinary	shares	of		 100	 –
   US$1 each

Cable Network  Hong Kong Investment holding 100 ordinary shares of  100 –
 Communications Limited   HK$1 each

   2 non-voting deferred – – 
    shares of HK$1 each

Hong Kong Cable  Hong Kong Advertising airtime and  2 ordinary shares of  – 100
 Enterprises Limited   programme licensing HK$1 each

Hong Kong Cable News  Hong Kong Advertising airtime 2 ordinary  shares of  – 100
	 Express	Limited	 	 	 HK$10	each

Hong Kong Cable  Hong Kong Television and Internet  750,000,000 ordinary  – 100
 Television Limited   and Multimedia  shares of HK$1 each

i-CABLE Entertainment  Hong Kong Programme production and  10,000,000 ordinary  – 100
 Limited   channel operation  shares of HK$1 each

i-CABLE Network Limited Hong Kong Network operation 100 ordinary shares of  – 100
   HK$1 each

   2 non-voting deferred – – 
   shares of HK$1 each

i-CABLE News Limited Hong Kong Programme production and  10,000,000 ordinary  – 100
   channel operation shares of HK$1 each

i-CABLE Sports Limited Hong Kong Programme production and  10,000,000 ordinary  – 100
   channel operation shares of HK$1 each

i-CABLE Network  Hong Kong Network operation 500,000 ordinary  – 100
 Operations Limited   shares of HK$1 each

i-CABLE Telecom Limited Hong Kong Telephony 1 ordinary share of HK$1 – 100

Rediffusion Satellite  Hong Kong Satellite television systems 1,000 ordinary  – 100
 Services Limited   shares of HK$10 each

Sundream Motion Pictures  Hong Kong Film production 300,000,000 ordinary  – 100
 Limited   shares of HK$1 each

廣州市寬訊技術服務 The People’s Republic  Technical services HK$34,600,000 – 100
 有限公司 *  of China

* This entity is registered as a wholly foreign owned enterprise under PRC law and is not audited by KPMG.
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18. Amounts due from subsidiaries
The	amounts	due	from	subsidiaries	are	unsecured,	interest	free	and	have	no	fixed	terms	of	repayment,	and	are	arisen	in	the	
ordinary course of business.

19. Inventories
 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Spare parts and consumables 13,884 5,947

20. Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables comprise:

 Group Company
  

 2013 2012 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable from trade debtors 80,120 88,936 – –
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 53,794 62,202 234 637

 133,914 151,138 234 637

(a) Included in trade and other receivables are trade debtors (net of allowance for doubtful debts) with the following 
ageing analysis, based on the invoice date as of the end of the reporting period:

 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 19,722 18,991
31 to 60 days 21,289 27,478
61 to 90 days 16,036 17,458
Over 90 days 23,073 25,009

 80,120 88,936

The Group’s credit policy is set out in Note 31(a).
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20. Trade and other receivables (continued)

(b) Impairment losses in respect of accounts receivable from trade debtors are recorded using an allowance account 
unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off 
against accounts receivable from trade debtors directly (see Note 1(t)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, including both specific and collective loss 
components, is as follows:

 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of year 8,193 8,382
Impairment loss for the year 6,219 5,136
Reversal of impairment losses in prior year (764) (1,057)
Written off (4,260) (4,268)
Exchange	difference	 – –

Balance at end of year 9,388 8,193

(c) (i) 9% (2012: 13%) of the gross trade receivables relate to the Television and Internet and Multimedia access 
subscription businesses. There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to these trade 
receivables as the customer bases are widely dispersed in different sectors. The Group has given a credit term 
of 30 days to these customers. Impairment losses in respect of receivables arising from these subscription 
businesses are recognised once the receivable is more than 90 days overdue.

 (ii) The ageing analysis of accounts receivable from trade debtors from advertising and distribution businesses that 
are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Not yet due 11,483 8,732

Less than 1 month past due 23,597 27,355
1 to 3 months past due 29,870 30,077
3 to 6 months past due 8,696 11,401
Over 6 months past due 1,893 1,749

 64,056 70,582

 75,539 79,314

Receivables that were not impaired relate to accounts receivables from advertising and programme distribution businesses 
that the Group had continuing business relationship and have a good track record with the Group. Impairment losses are 
recognised based on the credit history of the customers, and are made on balances overdue for a period of 90 to 270 days. 
Based	on	past	experience,	management	believes	that	no	impairment	allowance	is	necessary	in	respect	of	these	balances	
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group 
does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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21. Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, and are arisen in the 
ordinary course of business (see Note 36).

22. Bank deposits and cash
 Group Company
  

 2013 2012 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 100,000 – 100,000 –
Cash at bank and in hand 82,028 288,287 33,350 196,498

 182,028 288,287 133,350 196,498

23. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables comprise: Group Company
  

 2013 2012 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due to trade creditors 89,535 106,488 – –
Accrued	expenses	and	other	payables	 217,394 184,266 1,454 2,595
Receipts in advance and customers’ deposits 199,382 208,034 – –

 506,311 498,788 1,454 2,595

An ageing analysis of amounts due to trade creditors, based on the invoice date is set out as follows:

 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 9,584 24,006
31 to 60 days 31,069 30,709
61 to 90 days 14,233 16,821
Over 90 days 34,649 34,952

 89,535 106,488

24. Amounts due to subsidiaries
The	amounts	due	to	subsidiaries	are	unsecured,	interest	free	and	have	no	fixed	terms	of	repayment,	and	are	arisen	in	the	
ordinary course of business (see Note 36).

25. Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, and are arisen in the ordinary 
course of business (see Note 36).
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26. Amount due to immediate holding company
The	amount	due	to	immediate	holding	company	is	unsecured,	interest	free	and	has	no	fixed	terms	of	repayment,	and	is	
arisen in the ordinary course of business (see Note 36).

27. Other non-current liabilities
 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrued	expenses	and	other	payables	 8,068 8,068
Receipts in advance and customers’ deposits 43 524

 8,111 8,592

28. Bank loans
 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

– Unsecured bank loans and repayable after 1 year but within 2 years – 100,000

(a) All the interest-bearing borrowings are carried at amortised cost. None of the non-current interest-bearing borrowings 
is	expected	to	be	settled	within	one	year.	The	Group’s	borrowings	are	considered	by	management	to	be	effectively	
denominated in Hong Kong Dollar.

(b) The Group repaid the HK$100,000,000 in early August 2013.

29. Capital, reserves and dividends
(a) Dividends

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the payment of any dividends for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 (2012: HK$Nil).

(b) Authorised and issued share capital
 2013 2012

 No. of shares  No. of shares
 (’000) HK$’000 (’000) HK$’000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of HK$1 each 8,000,000 8,000,000 8,000,000 8,000,000

Issued and fully paid
At January 1 and December 31 2,011,512 2,011,512 2,011,512 2,011,512

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual 
assets.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium account and the capital redemption reserve account is governed by 
Section 48B and 49H respectively of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.



70 i-CABLE Communications Limited   Annual Report 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

29. Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(ii) Special capital reserve

The special capital reserve is non-distributable and it should be applied for the same purpose as the share 
premium account. In 2004, the issued share capital of a subsidiary under the Group was reduced (“Capital 
Reduction”) and the credit arising from the Capital Reduction was applied to eliminate the accumulated losses 
standing in the statement of profit or loss of that subsidiary as at September 30, 2004.

An undertaking was given to the Court by the subsidiary in connection with the Capital Reduction (the 
“Undertaking”). Pursuant to the Undertaking, any future recoveries or reversals of provisions in respect of: 1) 
assets owned or held under finance and operating leases against which charges to depreciation were made 
as at September 30, 2004; and 2) provisions made by the subsidiary in respect of certain assets held by the 
subsidiary	as	at	September	30,	2004;	collectively	the	relevant	assets	(“relevant	assets”)	to	the	extent	that	
such	recoveries	exceed	the	written	down	amounts	of	the	relevant	assets,	up	to	an	aggregate	amount	of	
HK$1,958,524,266, will be credited to a special capital reserve. While any debt or liability of, or claim against, 
the subsidiary at the date of the Capital Reduction remains outstanding and the person entitled to the benefit 
thereof has not agreed otherwise, the special capital reserve shall not be treated as realised profits. The 
subsidiary shall be at liberty to apply the special capital reserve for the same purposes as a share premium 
account may be applied.

The amount to be credited to the special capital reserve is subject to a limit (“Limit”), which was 
HK$1,958,524,266 as at the date of the capital reduction. The Limit may be reduced by the amount of any 
increase in the issued share capital or in the share premium account of the subsidiary resulting from an issue 
of shares for cash or other consideration or upon a capitalisation of distributable reserves. The subsidiary shall 
be at liberty to transfer the amount so reduced to the general reserves of the subsidiary and the same shall 
become available for distribution. The Limit may also be reduced after the disposal or other realisation of any of 
the relevant assets by the amount of the charge to depreciation or provision made in relation to such asset as at 
September 30, 2004 less such amount as is credited to the special capital reserve as a result of such disposal 
or realisation.

In	the	event	that	the	amount	standing	to	the	credit	of	the	special	capital	 reserve	exceeds	the	Limit,	 the	
subsidiary	shall	be	at	liberty	to	transfer	the	amount	of	any	such	excess	to	the	general	reserves	of	the	subsidiary,	
which shall become available for distribution.

As at December 31, 2013, the Limit of the special capital reserve, as reduced by HK$44,413,566 (2012: 
HK$6,150,650) related to recoveries and reversals of provisions of the relevant assets, was HK$838,623,896 
(2012: HK$883,037,461), and the amount standing to the credit of the special capital reserve was 
HK$13,980,875 (2012: HK$13,966,675).

(iii)	 Exchange	reserve
The	exchange	reserve	comprises	all	foreign	exchange	differences	arising	from	the	translation	of	the	financial	
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in 
Note 1(q).

(iv) Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale securities held 
at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies in Notes 1(s) and (t).

(v) Other reserve
The other reserve comprises the share of an associate’s reserve of the Group as at December 31, 2009. The 
amount had been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended December 31, 2010. Since the Group’s 
share	of	losses	exceeds	its	interest	in	the	associate,	the	Group’s	interest	is	reduced	to	HK$Nil	(2012:	HK$Nil)	
and no recognition of future losses as the Group has no legal or constructive obligation in respect of such 
losses.

(vi) Distributability of reserves
At December 31, 2013, reserves of the Company available for distribution to equity shareholders of the 
Company amounted to HK$20,710,000 (2012: revenue reserve HK$19,690,000).
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(d) Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to support 
the Group’s stability and growth, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and 
shareholders return, taking into consideration the future of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected 
profitability,	projected	operating	cash	flows,	projected	capital	expenditures	and	projected	strategic	 investment	
opportunities.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group made no changes to its capital management objectives, policies or 
processes during the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Neither	the	Company	nor	any	of	its	subsidiaries	are	subject	to	externally	imposed	capital	requirements.

30. Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial position
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:

 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Overseas	taxation	 232 696

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
The	components	of	deferred	tax	(assets)/liabilities	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	and	
the movements during the year are as follows:

 Group
 

 Depreciation 
 allowances in 
 excess of 
 related 
 depreciation Tax losses Total
Deferred	tax	arising	from:	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At January 1, 2012 81,109 (363,442) (282,333)
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (Note 6(a)) (5,033) 8,824 3,791

At December 31, 2012 76,076 (354,618) (278,542)

At January 1, 2013 76,076 (354,618) (278,542)
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (Note 6(a)) (9,051) 10,849 1,798

At December 31, 2013 67,025 (343,769) (276,744)
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30. Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:  (continued)
 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Net	deferred	tax	assets	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	 (311,373) (322,551)
Net	deferred	tax	liabilities	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	 34,629 44,009

 (276,744) (278,542)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised:
The	Group	has	not	recognised	deferred	tax	assets	in	respect	of	the	following:

 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Future	benefit	of	tax	losses	 369,936 369,332
Impairment loss for bad and doubtful accounts 63 50

 369,999 369,382

31. Financial risk management and fair values
Exposure	to	credit,	 liquidity,	interest	rate	and	currency	risks	arises	in	the	normal	course	of	the	Group’s	businesses.	The	
Group’s	exposure	to	these	risks	and	the	financial	risk	management	policies	and	practices	used	by	the	Group	to	manage	
these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. Management has a defined credit 
policy	in	place	with	general	credit	terms	ranging	from	0	to	90	days.	The	exposure	to	credit	risks	is	monitored	on	an	
ongoing basis. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk from customers. Subscription revenue from 
customers is settled mainly in cash or via major credit cards.

(b) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities and its compliance with lending covenants. The Group’s objective is to maintain 
a	balance	between	the	continuity	of	funding	and	the	flexibility	through	use	of	bank	overdrafts	and	bank	loans.	In	
addition, banking facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.
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(b) Liquidity risk  (continued)
The following table show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s and 
the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including 
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting 
period) and the earliest date the Group and the Company can be required to pay:

 Group
 

 2013 2012
  

 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
  

    Carrying     Carrying 
    amount     amount 
    in the     in the 
  More than  Total consolidated   More than  Total  consolidated 
 Within  1 year but contractual  statement of  Within 1 year but contractual  statement of 
 1 year or less than  undiscounted  financial  1 year or less than  undiscounted  financial 
 on demand 2 years cash flow position on demand 2 years cash flow position
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due to 
 trade creditors 89,535 – 89,535 89,535 106,488 – 106,488 106,488
Accrued	expenses	and	
 other payables 217,394 8,068 225,462 225,462 184,266 8,068 192,334 192,334
Receipts in advance and 
 customers’ deposits 199,382 43 199,425 199,425 208,034 524 208,558 208,558
Amounts due to 
 fellow subsidiaries 30,886 – 30,886 30,886 27,043 – 27,043 27,043
Amount due to immediate 
 holding company 1,642 – 1,642 1,642 1,770 – 1,770 1,770
Bank loans – – – – 2,228 100,018 102,246 100,000

 538,839 8,111 546,950 546,950 529,829 108,610 638,439 636,193

 Company
 

 2013 2012
  

 Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
  

    Carrying     Carrying 
    amount     amount 
    in the     in the 
  More than  Total  Company   More than  Total  Company 
 Within  1 year but contractual  statement of  Within  1 year but contractual  statement of 
 1 year or less than  undiscounted  financial  1 year or less than  undiscounted  financial 
 on demand 2 years cash flow position on demand 2 years cash flow position
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrued	expenses	and	
 other payables 1,454 – 1,454 1,454 2,595 – 2,595 2,595

 1,454 – 1,454 1,454 2,595 – 2,595 2,595
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31. Financial risk management and fair values (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk  (continued)
 Company
 

 2013 2012
  

 Contractual undiscounted  Contractual undiscounted
 cash outflow/(inflow)  cash outflow/(inflow)
  

  More than  Total   More than  Total 
 Within  1 year but contractual  Within  1 year but contractual 
 1 year or less than  undiscounted  1 year or less than  undiscounted 
 on demand 2 years cash flow on demand 2 years cash flow
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Derivative settled gross:
Forward	exchange	contracts	at	
 fair value through profit or loss
 – Outflow – – – – – –
 – Inflow – – – – – –

(c) Interest rate risk
At December 31, 2013, the Group had short-term deposits with bank and other financial institutions amounting to 
HK$100,000,000 with original maturities of 7 to 124 days at market interest rates.

At December 31, 2012, the Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the HK$100,000,000 term loan. Bank loans 
at	variable	rates	expose	the	Group	to	cash	flow	interest	rate	risk.

Apart from the foregoing, the Group has no other significant income-generating financial assets or interest-bearing 
financial	liabilities.	The	Group’s	revenue,	expenses	and	cash	flows	are	substantially	independent	of	changes	in	market	
interest rates.

Effective interest rates and repricing analysis
In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their 
effective interest rates at the end of the reporting period and the periods in which they reprice:

 Group Company
  

Interest rate risk Total Effective interest rate Total Effective interest rate
  

 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000 % % HK$’000 HK$’000 % %

Floating rate:
Bank deposits and cash 82,028 288,287 0.01 0.01 33,350 196,498 – –
Bank loans – (100,000) – 3.60 – – – –

 82,028 188,287   33,350 196,498

Fixed	rate:
Bank deposits and cash 100,000 – 1.48 – 100,000 – 1.48 –

At December 31, 2013, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all 
other	variables	held	constant,	would	have	decreased/increased	the	Group’s	loss	after	tax	and	increased/decreased	
the	revenue	reserve	by	approximately	HK$1,820,000	(2012:	HK$1,883,000).
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(c) Interest rate risk  (continued)
The	sensitivity	analysis	above	indicates	the	instantaneous	change	in	the	Group’s	loss	after	tax	(and	revenue	reserve)	
and other components of consolidated equity that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had 
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by 
the	Group	which	expose	the	Group	to	fair	value	interest	rate	risk	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.	In	respect	of	the	
exposure	to	cash	flow	interest	rate	risk	arising	from	floating	rate	non-derivative	instruments	held	by	the	Group	at	the	
end	of	the	reporting	period,	the	impact	on	the	Group’s	loss	after	tax	(and	revenue	reserve)	and	other	components	of	
consolidated	equity	is	estimated	as	an	annualised	impact	on	interest	expense	or	income	of	such	a	change	in	interest	
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012.

(d) Currency risk
(i) Forecast transactions

The	Group	is	exposed	to	currency	risk	primarily	through	programmes	acquisition	activities	whereby	a	substantial	
portion of our programming costs on overseas content is settled in United States dollars. In view of the 
continued support from the Hong Kong SAR Government to maintain the peg of the Hong Kong dollar to the 
United	States	dollar,	management	does	not	expect	that	there	will	be	any	significant	currency	risk	associated	
with programming cost commitments denominated in United States dollars.

(ii) Recognised assets and liabilities
In respect of trade and other receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies, the Group manages 
the	net	exposure	by	buying	or	selling	foreign	currencies	at	spot	rates	where	necessary	to	address	short-term	
imbalances.

(iii)	 Exposure	to	currency	risk
The	following	table	details	the	Group’s	exposure	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	to	currency	risk	arising	from	
forward	exchange	contract,	forecast	transactions	and	recognised	assets	or	liabilities	denominated	in	currencies	
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate.

 Group
 

 2013 2012
  

   United    United
   States   States
 Renminbi Euros Dollars Renminbi Euros Dollars
 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

Trade and other receivables – – 5,648 8 649 5,207
Bank deposits and cash 1,253 27 130 7,808 51 450
Trade and other payables (2,951) (1,591) (7,578) (558) (15) (6,837)

Exposure	arising	from	
 recognised assets 
 and liabilities (1,698) (1,564) (1,800) 7,258 685 (1,180)
Highly probable forecast 
 purchases – (7,887) (43,645) – (12,418) (89,260)

Overall	net	exposure	 (1,698) (9,451) (45,445) 7,258 (11,733) (90,440)
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31. Financial risk management and fair values (continued)

(d) Currency risk  (continued)
(iii)	 Exposure	to	currency	risk	 (continued)

 Company
 

 2013 2012
  

   United   United
   States   States
 Renminbi Euros Dollars Renminbi Euros Dollars
 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

Notional amount of forward 
	 exchange	contracts	at	
 fair value through profit or 
	 loss	and	overall	net	exposure	 – – – – – –

(iv) Sensitivity analysis
The	following	table	indicates	the	instantaneous	change	in	the	Group’s	loss	after	tax	(and	revenue	reserve)	that	
would	arise	if	foreign	exchange	rates	to	which	the	Group	has	significant	exposure	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	
period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is 
assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be materially 
unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United States dollar against other currencies.

 Group
 

 2013 2012
  

 Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
 (decrease) loss after (decrease) loss after
 in foreign tax and	 in	foreign	 tax	and
 exchange revenue	 exchange	 revenue
 rates reserve rates reserve
  HK$’000  HK$’000

Renminbi 5% 89 5% 371
Euros 5% 4,163 5% 4,923

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects 
on	each	of	the	Group’s	loss	after	tax	and	revenue	reserve	measured	in	the	respective	functional	currencies,	
translated	into	Hong	Kong	dollars	at	the	exchange	rate	ruling	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	for	presentation	
purposes.

The	sensitivity	analysis	assumes	that	the	change	in	foreign	exchange	rates	had	been	applied	to	re-measure	
those	financial	instruments	held	by	the	Group	which	expose	the	Group	to	foreign	currency	risk	at	the	end	of	the	
reporting period, including inter-company payables and receivables within the Group which are denominated in 
a	currency	other	than	the	functional	currencies	of	the	lender	or	the	borrower.	The	analysis	excludes	differences	
that would result from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s 
presentation currency. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012.

32. Fair values
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at December 31, 2013 and 
2012.

As at December 31, 2013, the management adopted valuation technique in which significant inputs are not based on 
observable market data to estimate the fair value of the unquoted available-for-sale equity security investment.
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33. Joint operations
At December 31, 2013, the aggregate amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in the financial statements relating to the 
Group’s interests in joint operations are as follows:
 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets:
Programming library 4,586 39
Prepayments and other receivables 1,524 1,514

 6,110 1,553

Liabilities:
Receipts in advance and customers’ deposits 83 83

34. Commitments
Commitments outstanding as at December 31, 2013 not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

 Group Company
  

 2013 2012 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital commitments
(i) Property, plant and equipment
 – Authorised and contracted for 9,557 23,588 – –
 – Authorised but not contracted for 196,267 127,711 – –

  205,824 151,299 – –

(ii) Acquisition of equity interests in prospective subsidiary 
  and associate
 – Authorised and contracted for 3,153 3,057 – –
 – Authorised but not contracted for – – – –

 3,153 3,057 – –

 208,977 154,356 – –

Programming and other commitments
 – Authorised and contracted for 482,920 830,604 – –
 – Authorised but not contracted for 71,534 99,926 – –

 554,454 930,530 – –

Operating lease commitments
 – Within one year 35,174 52,607 – –
 – After one year but within five years 23,276 47,698 – –
 – After five years 21,747 26,087 – –

 80,197 126,392 – –

 843,628 1,211,278 – –
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

34. Commitments (continued)

(a) Operating lease commitments
The Group leases a number of premises under operating leases for use as office premises, car parks, warehouses, 
district centres, remote camera sites, multipoint microwave distribution system transmission sites and hub sites. The 
terms of the leases vary and may be renewable on a monthly basis or run for an initial period of two to fifteen years, 
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually 
adjusted every two to three years to reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

Some of the leased properties have been sublet by the Group under operating leases. The terms of the subleases 
vary and may be renewable on a monthly basis or run for an initial period of three years, with an option to renew the 
lease after that date at which time all terms are renegotiated.

The Group leases out decoders to subscribers under operating leases which are renewable on a monthly basis. None 
of the leases includes contingent rentals.

(b) Future operating lease income
(i) The total future minimum sublease payments receivable under non-cancellable subleases at December 31, 

2013 amounted to HK5,732,000 (2012: HK$13,697,000).

(ii) The total future minimum lease payments receivable in respect of decoders and other equipment under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

 Group
 

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 729 1,097

35. Contingent liabilities
As at December 31, 2013, there were contingent liabilities in respect of the following:

(i) The Company has undertaken to provide financial support to certain of its subsidiaries in order to enable them to 
continue to operate as going concerns.

(ii) Guarantees, indemnities and letters of awareness to banks and a fellow subsidiary totalling HK$6,000,000 (2012: 
HK$206,000,000) in respect of overdraft and guarantee facilities given by those banks to the subsidiaries. Of this 
amount, at December 31, 2013, HK$Nil (2012: HK$100,000,000) was utilised by the subsidiaries.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company has issued two separate guarantees to a bank in respect of banking 
facilities granted to two wholly-owned subsidiaries. As at December 31, 2013, the directors do not consider it probable that 
a	claim	will	be	made	against	the	Company	under	any	of	the	guarantee.	The	maximum	liability	of	the	Company	at	the	end	of	
the reporting period under the guarantees issued is the facilities drawn down by the wholly owned subsidiaries of HK$Nil 
(2012: HK$100,000,000).

In January 2014, a subsidiary of the Group was named as a defendant in a lawsuit regarding the subsidiary’s acquisition of a 
property in the People’s Republic of China in 2007. The Group’s subsidiary and other third party defendants are being jointly 
claimed for a collective amount of HK$59,500,000. Based on the advice of legal counsel, the Group believes the lawsuit to 
be without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself, accordingly, no provision has been made in the financial statements 
in respect of this claim.
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36. Material related party transactions
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered into the 
following material related party transactions during the year ended December 31, 2013:

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Rentals payable and related management fees on land and buildings (Note (i)) 49,375 49,087
Rentals receivable on land and buildings (Note (ii)) (6,289) (6,066)
Network repairs and maintenance services charges (Note (iii)) (21,620) (8,630)
Management fees (Note (iv)) 9,159 9,458
Computer services (Note (v)) 1,020 1,826
Leased	line	and	Public	Non-Exclusive	Telecommunications	Service	(“PNETS”)	
 charges and international bandwidth access charges (Note (vi)) 8,709 10,286
Telephony services fees (Note (vii)) 10,024 11,322

Notes:

(i) These represent rentals and related management fees paid to fellow subsidiaries in respect of office premises, car parks, 
warehouses, district centres and hub sites. As at December 31, 2013, related rental deposits amounted to HK$10,708,851 (2012: 
HK$10,708,851).

(ii) This represents rentals received from a fellow subsidiary in respect of the lease of office premises.

(iii) This represents service charges to a fellow subsidiary in relation to the operation, repair and maintenance of ducts, cables and 
ancillary equipment.

(iv) This represents costs incurred by a fellow subsidiary on the Group’s behalf which were recharged to the Group.

(v) This represents service charges paid to fellow subsidiaries for computer system maintenance and consulting services provided.

(vi) These represent service fees paid to a fellow subsidiary in respect of the leasing of datalines, PNETS charges and international 
bandwidth access charges incurred.

(vii) This represents service charges paid to a fellow subsidiary in relation to the telephony services.

The	immediate	holding	company	has	issued	deeds	of	indemnity	in	respect	of	certain	taxation	and	costs	arising	in	respect	of	
the period prior to November 1, 1999. The Group is not charged for these indemnities.

On July 26, 2013, Wharf Finance Limited, a fellow subsidiary has granted a revolving loan facility of HK$100,000,000 to a 
subsidiary of the Group which was on January 1, 2014 and will be mature on December 31, 2014.

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 7 
and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 8, is as follows:

 2013 2012
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 18,837 20,871
Post-employment benefits 681 961

 19,518 21,832

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (See Note 5).



80 i-CABLE Communications Limited   Annual Report 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

37. Accounting estimates and judgements
Management	considers	the	key	source	of	estimation	uncertainty	lies	in	the	recognition	of	deferred	tax	assets	from	unused	
tax	losses.	As	explained	in	Note	1(p),	all	deferred	tax	assets	to	the	extent	that	it	 is	probable	that	future	taxable	profits	
will be available against which they can be utilised, are recognised. It is possible that adverse changes to the operating 
environment	or	the	Group’s	organisation	structure	could	cause	a	future	write-down	of	the	deferred	tax	assets	recognised.

Apart	from	deferred	tax	assets,	management	also	makes	estimates	and	assumptions	that	affect	the	reported	amounts	of	
other	assets,	liabilities,	revenue	and	expenses	as	well	as	the	disclosure	of	contingent	assets	and	liabilities.	Notes	1(g),	1(i)
(i), l(i)(iv) and 1(i)(v), 1(k), 1(l), 1(t), and Note 32 contain information about the assumptions and risk factors relating to useful 
lives of property, plant and equipment, net realisable value of commissioned programmes, films rights and perpetual film 
rights and films in progress, impairment of property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets, inventories, loans and 
receivables, and unlisted equity instruments.

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are estimated at the time such assets are acquired and are based on 
historical	experience	with	similar	assets,	also	taking	into	account	the	anticipated	technological	or	industrial	changes	in	order	
to	determine	the	amount	of	depreciation	expense	to	be	recorded	during	any	reporting	period.	If	these	changes	were	to	
occur more rapidly than anticipated or in a different form than anticipated, the useful lives assigned to these assets may 
need	to	be	shortened,	resulting	in	the	recognition	of	increased	depreciation	expense	in	future	periods.

Net realisable values of commissioned programmes, films rights and perpetual film rights and films in progress are 
estimated based on the projected future revenue to be derived from all applicable territories and windows less cost to sell, 
taking into account historical performances of films and programmes with comparable budgets, casts, or other relevant 
qualities.	Impairment	is	made	for	carrying	costs	that	are	in	excess	of	the	expected	future	revenue	to	be	generated	by	these	
programmes and films. Films in progress are stated at cost less any impairment, taking into account the project status 
and estimated realisable value. If revenue actually generated were to fall short of forecasts, or there are changes in total 
projected ultimate gross revenues, amortisation may need to be increased, or impairment may need to be made to reduce 
the carrying value of individual programme or film to its realisable amount.

Property, plant and equipment, inventories, other intangible assets and various financial instruments including loans and 
receivables, equity instruments are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that	their	carrying	amounts	may	exceed	the	realisable	value.	If	any	such	indication	exists,	the	asset’s	realisable	value	is	
estimated and an impairment loss is recognised.

During	the	year	of	2012,	the	Group	revised	the	estimated	useful	lives	of	undeployed	SD	set-top-boxes	which	reflected	the	
Group’s	best	estimates	of	the	remaining	useful	life	of	the	SD	set-top-boxes	as	at	December	31,	2012.	The	change	in	useful	
lives	has	increased	the	depreciation	charge	for	2012	by	approximately	HK$12,286,000	and	decreased	the	depreciation	
charge	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2013	by	approximately	HK$3,577,000.	This	change	in	estimates	does	not	have	
any	effect	on	the	total	depreciation	expenses	of	those	SD	set-top-boxes	during	the	SD	set-top-boxes’	lives	as	the	effect	of	
such change represents a timing difference.

The value of property, plant and equipment and inventories and other intangible assets in use represent the amount 
that	these	assets	are	expected	to	generate	based	on	reasonable	and	supportable	assumptions.	The	value	of	loans	and	
receivables are calculated based on estimated future cash flows. The fair value of equity instruments are estimated based 
on a combination of valuation techniques including use of recent arm’s length market transactions of the underlying 
securities and references to the fund managers’ estimated fair value as adjusted for specific circumstances of the 
investment including recent fund raising results and financial outlook.

Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
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38. Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but not yet 
effective for the year ended December 31, 2013
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and the new 
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2013 and which have not been adopted in these 
financial statements.

The	Group	is	in	the	process	of	making	an	assessment	of	what	the	impact	of	these	amendments	is	expected	to	be	in	the	
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s	results	of	operations	and	financial	position	except	for	the	following	developments	are	expected	to	result	in	amended	
disclosures in the financial statements including restatement of comparative amounts in the first period of adoption:

 Effective for accounting 
 periods beginning on 
 or after

Amendments to HKAS 32, Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 1 January 2014
Amendments to HKAS 39, Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting 1 January 2014
Amendments to HKAS 36, Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets 1 July 2014
Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2010 – 2012 Cycle 1 July 2014
Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2011 – 2013 Cycle 1 July 2014
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments Unspecified

39. Parent and ultimate controlling party
The Directors consider the parent and the ultimate controlling party at December 31, 2013 to be Wharf Communications 
Limited and Wheelock and Company Limited, respectively, both of which are incorporated in Hong Kong. Wheelock and 
Company Limited produces financial statements available for public use.

40. Approval of financial statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Directors on February 26, 2014.



Five-year Financial Summary
(Expressed	in	HK$	million)

82 i-CABLE Communications Limited   Annual Report 2013

 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Results

Turnover 1,754 2,002 2,110 2,127 1,932
Operating	expenses	 (1,798)	 (2,251)	 (2,290)	 (2,402)	 (2,020)

Loss from operations (44) (249) (180) (275) (88)
Interest income – – 1 1 1
Finance costs, net – – (1) (4) (3)
Non-operating	(expenses)/income	 (1)	 1	 (3)	 6	 –
Impairment losses on investment (2) (1) – (1) –
Share of loss of associate – (41) – – –

Loss	before	taxation	 (47)	 (290)	 (183)	 (273)	 (90)
Income	tax	 7	 23	 4	 (5)	 (3)

Loss for the year (40) (267) (179) (278) (93)

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company (41) (267) (179) (278) (93)
Non-controlling interests 1 – – – –

Loss for the year (40) (267) (179) (278) (93)

Assets and Liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 1,153 1,146 1,075 1,024 934
Programming library 114 114 107 109 138
Other intangible assets 4 4 4 4 4
Interest in associate 38 – – – –
Deferred	tax	assets	 330	 343	 336	 323	 311
Other non-current assets 82 111 59 59 56
Current assets 914 602 594 447 331

Total assets 2,635 2,320 2,175 1,966 1,774

Current liabilities 542 502 549 528 539
Deferred	tax	liabilities	 74	 63	 54	 44	 34
Other non-current liabilities 8 8 9 9 8
Bank loans – – – 100 –

Total liabilities 624 573 612 681 581

Share capital 2,012 2,012 2,012 2,012 2,012
Reserves (4) (268) (449) (727) (819)

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 
 of the Company 2,008 1,744 1,563 1,285 1,193
Non-controlling interests 3 3 – – –

Total liabilities and equity 2,635 2,320 2,175 1,966 1,774
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